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Company General Information  

Anagraphical Data 

Name:  C.M.D. COSTRUZIONI MOTORI DIESEL S.P.A.  

Legal Headquarters:  Valle di Vitalba Industrial Area ATELLA PZ  

Capital share:  16.829.887,00  

Capital Entirely Invested:  Yes 

Chamber of Commerce Code:  PZ  

VAT Number:  03326801218  

Fiscal Code (National Insurance) Number:  05913290630  

 REA (Economic and Administrative Index) Number:  78972  

Legal Status:  SHARE HOLDER COMPANY  

Main Activity Code (ATECO):  256200  

Bankruptcy Proceedings: No  

Sole Share hold Company: No  

 Company subject to third-party management/co-
ordination: 

No  

Name of Company:  N/A  

Part of a Group:  No  

Name of Group Head:    

Group Head Nationality:    

Cooperative Enrolment Number:    

 

Financial Statements as at 31/12/2019  
 

Balance Sheet   
  31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

Assets 
 

B) Fixed Assets 
 

I - Intangible fixed assets - -

1) Incorporation and subsequent expenses 112.412 159.825

2) Development costs 8.422.095 5.913.692

3) Industrial patent and intellectual property rights 321.384 21.398

4) Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights 199.514 38.878

7) Other 7.967 17.591

Total Intangible fixed assets 9.063.372 6.151.384

II - Tangible fixed assets - -

1) Land and buildings 13.898.769 13.956.075

2) Plant and machinery  15.032.313 14.476.451

3) Production and commercial equipment 6.403.238 6.633.358
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4) Other 539.179 581.644

5) Tangible in progress and payments on accounts 3.544.116 2.023.949

Total Tangible fixed assets 39.417.615 37.671.477

III - Financial fixed assets   

1) Investments:   

a) Subsidiaries                         -                       -  

b) Associated companies                         -                       -  

d) Other 15.950 15.950

Total Investments 15.950 15.950

2) Receivables   

a) Subsidiaries                         -                       -  

due after 12 months                         -                       -  

due within 12 months  - -

b) Associated companies                         -                      -  

due after 12 months                         -                       -  

due within 12 months  - -

d) Other                         -        -

due after 12 months                         -  -

due within 12 months                         -                       -  

Total Receivables                         -       -

3) Other 29.489 29.489

Total Financial fixed assets 45.439 45.439

Total Assets (B) 48.526.426 43.868.300

C) Current Assets   

I - Inventories   

1) Raw materials, ancillary materials and consumables 7.684.483 6.985.700

2) Work in progress and semi finished goods 438.417 720.305

4) Finished goods and goods for resale 7.363.132 2.745.715

5) Payments on accounts 1.275.902 452.962

Total Inventories 16.761.934 10.904.682

II - Receivables   

1) Trade 11.998.924 17.460.155

due within 12 months 11.998.924 17.460.155

due after 12 months                         -                       -  

2) Subsidiaries                         -                      -  

due within 12 month                         -                       -  

due after 12 months                         -                       -  
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3) Associated companies                         -                       -

due within 12 month                         -                       -  

due after 12 month                         -                       -  

4) Parent company 323.744 312.546

due within 12 month 323.744 312.546

due after 12 month                         -                       -  

5-bis) Tax Credit 2.011.576 2.491.251

due within 12 month 2.011.576 2.491.251

due after 12 month                         -  -

5- ter) Prepaid taxes 986.226 528.086

due within 12 month 986.226 528.086

due after 12 month                         -                       -  

5-quarter) Other 8.259.232 11.630.307

due within 12 month 8.259.232 11.630.307

due after 12 month                         -                       -  

Total Receivables 23.579.702 32.422.345

III - Financial Assets non representing Fixed Assets   

6) Other investments                         -                       -  

Total Financial Assets non representing Fixed Assets                         -                     -  

IV - Cash at Bank and on hand   

1) Bank and post office deposits 14.908.826 3.116.956

3) Cash and valuables on hand 2.528 334

Total Cash at Bank and on hand 14.911.354 3.117.290

Total Current Assets (C) 55.252.990 46.444.317

    

D) Prepaied Expenses and Accrued Income 1.169.803 912.504

Total Prepaied Expenses and Accrued Income (D) 1.169.803 912.504

Total Assets 104.949.219 91.225.121

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 42.001.005 41.066.713

A) Shareholders' Equity  

I - Share capital 16.829.887 16.829.887

II - Share premium reserve 11.872.768 11.872.768

IV - Legal reserve 573.911 462.190

V - Statutory reserves 34.623 34.623

VI - Other reserves  

Revaluation reserves for Investments  1.490.730 1.490.730

Payments for capital increase 10.641.698 8.518.996
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Total Other reserves 12.132.428 10.009.726

VII - Reserve for hedging of expected cash flows - (376.899)

VIII - Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)                         -                       -  

IX - Net income (loss) for the accounting period 557.388 2.234.418

Total Shareholders' Equity 42.001.005 41.066.713

B) Funds for risk and charges  

3) liabilities derivative financial instruments - 376.899

Total Funds for risk and charges - 376.899

C) Fund for employee termination indemnity 406.901 428.996

D) Payables   

1) Bond 5.984.000 4.000.000

due within one year 1.584.000 1.000.000

due after one year 4.400.000 3.000.000

3) Payables to shareholders 1.881.000 -

due after one year 1.881.000 -

4) Banks 17.370.202 9.230.092

due within one year 4.484.049 3.558.262

due after one year 12.886.153 5.671.830

5) Other financiers 6.249.389 5.772.285

due within one year 6.214.655 5.692.103

due after one year 34.734 80.182

6) Advances 278.562 160.025

due within one year 278.562 160.025

due after one year - -

7) Trade payables 12.714.413 9.489.354

due within one year 12.714.413 9.489.354

due after one year                         -                       -  

8) Payables represented by negotiable instruments                         -                       -  

due within one year                         -                       -  

due after one year                         -                       -  

9) Subsidiaries                         -                      -  

due within one year                         -                       -  

due after one year                         -                       -  

10) Associated companies                         -                       -

due within one year                         -                       -  

due after one year - -

11) Parent company 390.000 260.000
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due within one year 390.000 260.000

due after one year - -

12) Taxes 4.633.188 9.891.861

due within one year 1.228.691 5.636.164

due after one year 3.404.497 4.255.697

13) Provident and social security institutions 553.381 647.187

due within one year 540.691 482.216

due after one year 12.690 164.971

14) Others 1.037.985 1.031.356

due within one year 1.037.985 1.031.356

due after one year                         -                       -  

Totale Payables 51.092.120 40.482.160

E) Accrued Expenses and Deferred Income   

Accrued Expenses and Deferred Income 11.449.193 8.870.353

Total Accrued Expenses and Deferred Income 11.449.193 8.870.353

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 104.949.219 91.225.121

    

Income Statement  
  31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

A) Value of Production 
 

1) Revenues from the sale of goods and services 32.037.132 32.348.998

2) Change in semi finished goods and finished goods 2.524.280 1.504.350

4) Increase in fixed assets for internal work 3.119.850 2.477.347

5) Other revenues and income                        -  

Grant in excercise 38.837 -

Other 3.042.435 3.347.413

Total Other revenues and income 3.081.272 3.347.413

Total  Value of Production 40.762.534 39.678.107

B) Cost of Production   

6) Row materials, ancillary materials and consumables  19.562.803  15.137.046 

7) Service costs 4.443.526 5.013.903

8) Expenses related to the use of third party assets 429.276 514.604

9) Personnel                        -  

a)  salaries and wages 6.654.197 6.738.702

b) social contributions 1.391.306 1.226.768

c) employee termination indemnities 279.194 261.133

d) severance and similar charges 1.600 -

e) other 14.873 42.891
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Total Personnel 8.341.170 8.269.494

10) Depreciation and write down                        -  

a) amortization of intangibles fixed assets 3.449.808 2.371.848

b)depreciation of tangibles fixed assets 2.426.938 2.116.291

d)write down of receivables included in current assets and of liquid funds - 100.000

  

Total Depreciation and write down 5.876.746 4.588.139

11) Change in raw materials, ancillary materials, consumables and goods for sale (698.782) 421.308

                          -                       -  

13) Other provisions                         -                       -  

14) Other operating expenses 794.842 505.689

Total Cost of Production 38.749.581 34.450.184

Earning before interest and taxes (EBIT) (A - B) 2.012.953 5.227.924

C) FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES   

15) Income from investments   

b) dividend and other income from associated co. 18.568 -

16) Other financial income                         -                      -  

b) from securities classified under fixed assets non representing inv. -                       -

c) from securities classified under current assets non representing inv. - -

d) others  18.568 2.881

Total Other financial income 18.568 2.881

17) Interest and other financial charges 2.881 9.286

Others  1.114.277 1.277.329

Total Interest and other financial charges 1.114.277 1.277.329

17-bis) Gains and losses on foreign exchange - 4.174

Totale Financial income and expenses (15+16-17+-17-bis) (1.095.709) (1.270.274)

D) Adjustments to Value of Financial Assets   

18) Revaluation   

a) investments                         -                       -  

b) financial fixed assets                          -                       -  

d) hedging instruments                         -                       -  

Total Revaluation                         -                      -  

19) Write downs   

a) investments                         -                       -  

b) financial fixed assets  - 20.525

d) hedging instruments - -

Total Write downs - 20.525

Total Adjustments to Value of Financial Assets (18-19) - (20.525)

RESULT BEFORE TAXES (A-B+-C+-D+-E) 917.244 3.937.125
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20) Income taxes   

current 105.839 844.678

previous years 712.157 849.356

prepaid (458.140) 8.673

Total Income taxes 359.856 1.702.707

23) PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE ACCOUNTING PERIOD 557.388 2.234.418

Financial Statements - Indirect Method 
 

 

  Year 2019 Year 2018

A) Cash Flow from Operating Activities (indirect method)    

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE ACCOUNTING PERIOD 557.388 2.234.418

Income taxes 359.856 1.702.707

 Interest and other financial charges/income 1.095.709 1.270.278

Gains) / Losses from the sale of assets 1.240 -

Earning before interest and taxes (EBIT) 2.014.193 5.207.403

Adjustment on "no cash" elements that haden't effects on Working Capital  

Provisions 6.451 9.598

Amortization of fixed assets 5.876.746 4.488.140

Other adjustement (+/-) on "no cash " elements  100.000

Total adjustment on "no cash" elements that haden't effects on Working Capital 5.883.197 4.597.738

2) Cash Flow before Working Capital Variations 7.897.390 9.805.141

Working Capital Variations  

Decrease/(Increase) Inventory (5.857.252) (1.536.003)

Decrease/(Increase) Trade receivables 5.461.231 564.338

Increase/(Decrease)Trade payables 3.225.059 562.333

Decrease/(Increase)Prepaied Expenses and Accrued Income (257.299) 619.605

Increase/(Decrease) Accrued Expenses and Deferred Income 2.578.840 3.567.772

Altri decrementi/(Altri Incrementi) del capitale circolante netto (2.070.146) (7.934.588)

Total Working Capital Variations 3.080.433 (4.156.543)

3) Cash Flow after Working Capital Variations 10.977.823 5.648.598

Other Adjustment  

Interest inflow/(outflow) (1.095.709) (1.270.274)

(Use of Funds) (28.546) (11.331)

Other Inflow/(Outflow) - -

Total Other Adjustment (1.124.255) (1.281.605)

Cash Flow Operating Activities (A) 9.853.568 4.366.993
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B) Cash Flow from Investments Activities  

Tangible fixed assets  

(Investments) (4.173.074) (5.469.242)

 Intangible fixed assets  

(Investments) (6.361.796) (3.632.894)

Disposal 9.016 1.208.405

Cash Flow from Investments Activities (B) (10.525.854) (7.893.731)

C) Cash Flow from Financial Activities  

Financial Debts   

Increase/(Decrease) Current bank debts (short terms) 925.787 410.962

New Bank loans 16.718.872 2.000.000

(Bank Loan payments) (5.178.309) (1.535.791)

Equity  

Paid capital increase  

Cash Flow from Financial Activities ( C ) 12.466.350 875.171

Increase (decrease) Cash and cash equivalents  (A ± B ± C) 11.794.064 (2.651.567)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  

Bank and post office deposits 3.116.956 5.768.681

Cash and valuables on hand 334 176

Total Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 3.117.290 5.768.857

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  

Bank and post office deposits 14.908.826 3.116.956

Cash and valuables on hand 2.528 334

Total Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 14.911.354 3.117.290

Footnotes to the financial statements 

For more information, please refer to the paragraph of this document intended for it. 

Notes to the financial statements, introduction 

Dear Shareholders, this note represents the integral part of the financial statements as at 31/12/2018. 

The Financial Statetments is in compliance with art. 2423 (and following ones) of the civil code, and with national 
accounting standards issued by the Italian Accounting Agency; therefore, it represents in a clear, truthful and accurate way 
company’s financial position and its fiscal performance. 

Assets and Liabilities and P&L content is in compliance with art. 2424 and 2425 of the Civil Code, while the cash flow 
statement has been drafted pursuant to art. 2425-ter. 

The notes, drafted in pursuance of art. 2427 of the Civil Code, also contain all informations useful for clearly 
understanding the financial statements.  
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Financial Statements Drafting Criteria 

Informations included in this document are reported according to the order in which items are shown in the balance sheet 
and in P&L.  

Concerning what has been indicated in this notes’ introduction, we certify that, pursuant to art. 2423, clause 3 of the Civil 
Code, whether informations required by particular law dispositions should not be enough to give a true and correct 
business system overview, additional informations, considered mandatory for the above-mentioned aim, will be supplied.  

There have not been particular circumstances which led to recourse to derogations of the art. 2423, clause n. 4 and 5 and 
art. 2423-bis , clause 2 of Civil Code. 

Financial statements, and related Notes, have been drafted by using Euro currency. 

 Drafting Criteria 

Fundamental principles for preparation 

Analysis of Financial Statements items has been carried on in accordance with the principle of prudence and with 
company’s ongoing activity, in the absence of meaningful uncertain events. In pursuance of  art. 2423-bis c.1 paragraph 1-
bis c.c., collection and presentation of entries are processed by considering the essence of both operation and agreement.  

During financial statements drafting process, income and costs have been found to be in line with the accrual basis, 
regardless of cash collection. Risks and loss of accruals have been equally considered, even if they have been clearly 
revealed only after fiscal year closing.  

Financial statements - Structure and Content  

Assets and Liabilities, P&L, financial report and accounting informations included in the Notes are in compliance with 
accounting records, main Notes’ source.  

Assets and Liabilities and P&L don’t include groups of those items preceded by Arabic numbers, as optionally required by 
art. 2423-ter of Civil Code. 

In accordance with art. 2424 of the Civil Code we confirm there are no elements of either assets or liabilities included 
under items in the financial statements prospectus. 

Exceptional cases pursuant to art. 2423, 5 paragraph, of the Civil Code 

There were no exceptional cases that made necessary the exemptions pursuant to art. 2423, paragraphs 4 and 5 of the civil 
code. 

Comparability and adaptation problems 

In accordance with article 2423-ter, paragraph 5, of the Italian Civil Code, which states that "if the items are not 
comparable, those relating to the previous year must be adapted", and as required by accounting principle OIC 29, it is 
specified that therefore, it was necessary to adapt the following items of the income statement of the previous year:- the 
income statement item "Other revenues", equal to approximately 1,320 thousand euros, which at 31 December 2018 was 
included in item A5 "other revenues and income", was reclassified under item A1 "Revenues from sales and services", for 
a better comparison with the same income statement item as at 31 December 2019.The item A5 "other revenues and 
income", until the previous year included the income statement item "Other revenues", which included non-production 
revenues, shown directly in the income statement item A1 "Revenues from sales and services" , but directly related to the 
main production orders or to the Company's core business. Therefore, at 31 December 2019, it was decided to include this 
type of revenue directly in item A1 "Revenues from sales and services". 
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Evaluation Criteria 

Evaluation criteria for items and valuations adjustments are in compliance with Civil Code instructions and indications 
included in accounting principles released by OIC. Abovementioned criteria are not different from those used in the 
previous fiscal year. 

In accordance with Art. 2427 c. 1 n. 1 of the Civil Code, Notes show the most meaningful marking criteria adopted in 
compliance with instructions in art.2426 of  Civil Code, specifically referring to those balance sheet items for which the 
legislator allows different marking and adjustment criteria, or for which particular criteria are not provided for. 

The accounting values expressed in foreign currencies have been recorded after conversion into euro at the exchange rate 
prevailing at the time of their recognition, or at the exchange rate at the closing date of the financial year according to the 
indications of OIC 26. 

Most meaningful marking criteria adopted for the draft of financial statements as at 31 December 2018 in compliance with 
art. 2426 of the Civil Code and the abovementioned accounting standards are the following: 

Intangible assets 

They are recorded at purchase or production cost, including additional fees and costs directly related to the product, and 
following a regular fixed instalment repayment plan during each fiscal year.  

Adv and research costs are fully ascribed to the period cost of the fiscal year in which they are incurred. 

In case of  lasting loss of value, asset is equally depreciated, regardless of any recorded depreciation. If depreciation’s 
reasons are invalidated during the course of subsequent years, the original value of the asset is restored, within value’s 
limits to what it would have been had devaluation not been effected, except for  “start-up” and "deferred charges" entries 
referred to N° 5 of art. 2426 of the civil code. 

Plant’s installation and extension costs 

Plant’s installation and extension costs are amortised for a period of five years, according a regular fixed instalment 
repayment plan. Development costs are amortised according to their useful life (five years), in exceptions where it is not 
possible to reliably estimate useful life, they are amortised within a period not exceeding five years. Until amortisation  is 
not completed, share of profits can be operated only if there are remaining available reserves enough to cover the 
unrecovered costs amount. 

Development costs 

Development costs have been recorded in the balance sheet assets with the consent of the board of statutory auditors since 
they have, according to prudent judgment, the characteristics required by the OIC 24: the costs are recoverable and relate 
to specific development projects that can be made and for which the company has the necessary resources. Furthermore, 
costs relate to a clearly defined, identifiable and measurable product or process. Since it is possible to reliably estimate 
their useful life, these costs are amortized according to their useful life. 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are recorded at purchase cost including accessory costs and are amortized within the legal or contractual 
limit envisaged for them. 

It should be noted that it was not necessary to carry out depreciations pursuant to art. 2426 paragraph 1 n. 3 of the Italian 
Civil Code since, as required by OIC 9, no indicators of potential permanent losses in value of intangible assets were 
found. 

 

Tangible assets 

They are recorded at purchase cost or based on internal construction costs, net of depreciations carried out during the 
current and previous fiscal years. Additional, direct and indirect costs are included for the amount reasonably attributed to 
the product, and are related to manufacturing period and till the moment before product can be used. 
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Tangible assets are systematically amortised in each fiscal year according fixed instalment repayment plan and based on 
rates provided for tax regulation: they represent the remaining possibility of assets’ use. The applied rates are included in 
the annex of financial statements’ explanatory note. For fixed assets become effective during the current fiscal year rates 
are reduced to 50%, assuming that purchases are uniformly distributed throughout the fiscal year. 

Depreciation is also calculated also temporarily unused income and it doesn’t include land and engineering infrastructures, 
as their property values are considered limitless. 

In case of  lasting loss of value, asset is equally depreciated, regardless of any recorded depreciation. If depreciation’s 
reasons are invalidated during the course of subsequent fiscal years, the original value of the asset is restored, within 
value’s limits to what it would have been had devaluation not been effected. 

Ordinary maintenance and repair costs are fully charged on P&L account. Maintenance costs increasing the value are 
ascribed to related income, and are amortised according remaining possibility of their use.  

Costs incurred to enlarge, modernise or improve tangible assets’ infrastructures can be converted into capital if they 
produce a considerable and measurable increase in production capacity, safety or useful life. If these costs do not produce 
such effects, they are treated as ordinary maintenance and charged on P&L account. 

As soon as tangible assets are intended to be set over, they are reclassified as an appropriate current assets entry and then 
valued at net equity book value or sales value resulting from market trend, whichever is lower. Goods intended for sale are 
no longer subject to depreciation. 

Grants for equipments are noticed as soon as there is a reasonable certainty that the necessary conditions for approval of 
the grant have been satisfied and the grants will be disbursed. They get an indirect reduction in costs because they are 
charged to item A5 of the income statement in "Other income and revenues", and then included as "Deferred income" for 
subsequent years.  

Spare parts are divided into the following categories: spare parts with low unit price, total low value and regularly used, 
noticed as costs at the moment of purchase; spare parts with relevant unit price and occasionally, classified as tangible 
assets and amortised over time which appears shorter from the difference between remaining useful life of the asset to 
which they are related and their useful life, calculated through the valuation of application timing and parts with relevant 
unit price and frequently used which are included in the inventory and left according the consumption.  

Payments in advance to suppliers for purchasing intangible assets includingin B.II.5 item are recoderd at the date fixed 
according said amounts payments. Therefore, down payments are not amortized. 

Fixed assets 

Shares and securities recorded as fixed assets are destined to have a long-lasting presence in company assets. Shares are 
assessed by the adjusted cost of permanent loss of value, while securities are assessed by using amortized cost. 

The cost method assumes that the value for inclusion in the budget is fixed according either purchase or subscription price, 
including additional costs. When a long-term loss is perceived, shares carrying value is reduced to the minimum 
recoverable value, determined by expected future benefits which will flow into subsidiary savings. 

 The amortized cost of a security is the value at which the security was valued at the time of initial recognition net of 
capital repayments, increased or decreased by accumulated amortization, using the effective interest criterion, on any 
difference between the value initial and expiring and deducting any reduction (directly or through the use of a provision) 
following a loss in value. The initial value is represented by the purchase or subscription price net of any fees. 

The amortised cost of a security is its assessed value at the time of initial net capital repayments, increased or decreased by 
accumulated amortization through the effective interest method, on any difference between the initial value and the 
maturity one, deducting any reduction (operated directly or through a fund), following a loss of value. The initial 
registration value is represented by the purchase price or subscription, net of any commissions. 

Financial leasing activities 

Assets purchased by financial leases are represented, as required by the Legislator, according to the equity method, with 
the recognition of lease payments among operating costs. 
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Inventories 

 Inventories are carried at the lower of purchase or production cost, determined according to the f.i.f.o. method, and the 
presumed realisable value can be deduced from the market evolution (art. 2426 Number 9 c.c.). Purchase cost is intended 
as real purchase price plus additional costs, but excluding financial fees.  

In the case of goods, finished and semi-finished and WIP products, realisable value is directly determined through 
reference to market trends for sales of such goods. Raw materials and consumables necessary for finished products 
manufacturing  are not subject to depreciation and their value is based on a value that is equal or superior to the production 
cost for the finished products of which they are component parts. 

Inventory is subject to depreciation on financial statements when their assessed value based on market trends is less than 
their related book value. Frozen stock and slow turnover items are depreciated regarding the possibility of use or 
realisation. 

Advanced payment to suppliers for the purchase of assets included in the inventories recorded in item C.1.5 are initially 
recognized on the date on which the obligation arises for the payment of such amounts or, in the absence of such an 
obligation, at the time they are paid. 

Receivables 

Receivables, in pursuant of art. 2426, clause 1 no. 8 of Civil Code, are defined according to amortised cost criterium, 
exceptionally for receivables amortised cost effect of which are irrelevant (validity less than 12 months), in compliance 
withart.2423, clause 4 of Civil Code. 

Receivables with no application of amortised cost criterium have been defined according value of likely profit. 

Credits pursuant to art. 2426, paragraph 1 number 8 of the Italian Civil Code are recorded according to the amortized cost 
criterion, with the exception of receivables for which the effects of the application of the amortized cost, pursuant to art. 
2423 paragraph 4 of the Civil Code, are irrelevant (expiry less than 12 months). 

Receivables for which the amortized cost criterion has not been applied have been recognized at their presumed realizable 
value. 

Receivables, regardless if the amortized cost is applied or not, are shown in the financial statements, net of the recognition 
of a bad debt provision to cover the receivables considered to be unrecoverable, as well as the general risk related to the 
remaining receivables, based on estimates made on the basis of past experience, the performance of seniority indicators of 
overdue receivables, the general economic situation, sector and country risk, as well as events occurring after the end of 
the year which have repercussions on the values at the balance sheet date. 

The amount of the provision to the allowance for impairment is recorded in the income statement. 

As determined above, the value of the receivables has been amended by a special devaluation fund, exposed to direct 
reduction in the value of the receivables themselves, in order to adapt them to their presumable salvage value.  

Allowance amount for doubtful accounts is reported in the P&L account. 

Receivables assigned after factoring operations are cancelled from the A&L only if granted with non-recourse 
assignments, and if all risks concerning to the credit are substantially reassigned. Recourse assignment credits, or those 
where all risks are not transferred, remain in the financial statements and a financial liability of equal amount is recorded 
on the liabilities section against the received advanced payment. 

 Tax Credits and prepaid taxes 

Tax Credits” items includes specific amounts from receivables the right of profit by refund or compensation. 

“Prepaid taxes” items includes all taxes prepaid ixed according temporary deductible differences, by rate applicable at the 
moment these differences will be passed on. 

Cash and cash equivalent 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the fiscal year are valued according to nominal value. Any foreign currency 
amounts’ availability is valued according the exchange rate at the end of fiscal year. 
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Accruals and deferrals 

In accordance with accrual basis, shares of costs and revenues are recorded under “accruals” and “deferrals” entries in 
current fiscal year, but due in following fiscal years, along with shares of costs and revenues incurred within the fiscal year 
closing also relating to subsequent fiscal one. 

Net income 

The items are shown in the financial statements at their book value according to the indications contained in the accounting 
principle OIC 28. 

Provisions for risks and charges 

The provisions for risks and charges are granted to cover losses or debts of a determined nature, whose existence is certain 
or likely. However, their amount or date of occurrence are not determinable at the fiscal year closing. Allocations  reflect 
the best appraisal based on the available elements. Risks or a liability which are only considered possible are indicated in 
notes of the funds, without creating a specific provision for risks and charges. Provisions for risks and charges are recorded 
as a priority in the P&L account cost entries referred to the relevant classes (B, C or D). Any time interconnection between 
the nature of the provision and one of the abovementioned class entries is not possible, the provisions for risks and charges 
are recorded under B12 and B13 entries of P&L account). 

Severance pay fund (TFR) 

The amount due to an employee after termination of the employment contract is recorded under “employee termination 
benefits” entries at the fiscal year’s closing date. The changes of TFR legislation by Law n. 296 on December, the 27th  
2006 ("Financial Law 2007") and by subsequent Decrees and implementing regulations, have modified statement’s criteria  
applied to the amount of TFR gained at December, the 31st 2006 and those still to be gained from January, the 1st  2007, 
because the "Contract Termination Indemnity Fund for Employees in the Private Sector” referred to in article 2120 of the 
civil code (Treasury fund managed by the INPS on behalf of the State) states that companies with at least 50 employees are 
obliged to deposit TFR payments into the Treasury Fund for all employees who have not chosen to deposit these funds into 
a complementary pension fund. The amount of the severance pay shown in the balance sheet is net of the payments made 
to said INPS Treasury Fund. 

Payables 

Payables, pursuant to art. 2426, paragraph 1, number 8 of Italian Civil Code are recorded according to amortized cost 
criterion, with the exception of payables for which the application of amortized cost, pursuant to art. 2423 paragraph 4 of 
Italian Civil Code, are irrelevant (due less than 12 months). Due to the principle of relevance already mentioned, payables 
have not been discounted if the interest rate inferable from the agreement conditions is not significantly different from the 
rate market interest 

Payables for which the amortized cost criterion was not applied were therefore recognized at nominal value. 

The subdivision of the amounts due within and after the financial year is carried out with reference to the agreement or 
legal expiry date, also taking into account facts and events that may lead to a change in the original expiry date. 

Payables arising from acquisitions of assets are recorded at the time that risks, charges and benefits are transferred; those 
related to services are recognized at the time that service is performed; financial and other assets at the time that the 
obligation to the counterparty arises. 

Tax payables include liabilities for specific taxes, as well as withholding taxes, which have not yet been paid at the balance 
sheet date, and, where compensation is permitted, are recorded net of advanced payments, withholding taxes and 
receivables. 'tax. 

The payables for holidays accrued by employees and for deferred remuneration, including the amount due to social 
security institutions, are allocated on the basis of the amount that should correspond in the case of termination of 
employment at the date of the financial statements. 
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Derivatives 

Derivatives are financial assets and financial liabilities through fair value. 

Derivatives are classified as hedging instruments only when, at the begining of hedge, there is a strong and supported 
matching between the characteristics of the hedged entry and those of the hedging instrument, the hedging relationship is 
formally documented and hedging effectiveness, periodically verified, is high. 

When derivatives cover the risk of variation in hedged items future cash flows (cash flow hedge), the effective portion of 
profits or losses on derivatives is suspended in net assets. The company has decided to apply hedge accounting for the 
coverage of the variability of the cash flows of financial liabilities due to the effect of the fluctuations in interest rates. 

Therefore, changes in the related fair value of hedging derivative financial instruments are recorded in a specific equity 
reserve (under item AVII "Reserve for expected cash flow hedging transactions") in the case of cash flow hedging in 
accordance with these procedures to counterbalance the effects of hedged flows (the ineffective component, as well as the 
variation in the time value of options and forward, is classified under items D18 and D19). 

Income 

Income related to sales of goods are recorded when property deed of related to management are net of returns, discounts, 
rebates and bonuses, as well as taxes directly connected with the sales of goods. Revenues for the performance of services 
are recognized after completion and/or maturation. 

Costs 

Costs are recorded on an accruals basis,no matter the date of collection and payment, net of returns, discounts, rebates and 
premiums. 

Financial income and charges 

Financial income and charges are recognized on an accrual basis. Costs referred to operations of credits disposal at any 
title (with recourse/without recourse) and at any natures (financial, commercial, etc) are charged to the related results. 

Income taxes  

Income taxes are recorded on the basis of an estimate of taxable income in conformity with applicable regulations, taking 
into account the applicable exemptions and tax credits due.  

Deferred taxes assets and liabilities are calculated on temporary differences between the values of the assets and liabilities 
determined according to civil law criteria and the corresponding values recognized for tax purposes. Their evaluation is 
carried out taking into account the presumable tax rate company will be incurred during the year in which these differences 
contribute to tax result, whereas the rates either prevailing or already issued at the financial statements issuing date and are 
respectively allocated in "Deferred tax liabilities", under provisions for liabilities and charges entry, and in "deferred tax 
assets". 

Deferred tax assets are noticed on all deductible temporary differences, with due regard for the principle of prudence, 
whether their existence are proved on fiscal documents, where the same will be transferred of a taxable income equal or 
higher than the amount of the differences that will be cancelled. 

Deferred tax liabilities are noticed on all taxable temporary differences. 

Other Informations 

Repurchase transactions 

Company, pursuant to art.2427 n. 6-ter, certifies that, during fiscal year, no repurchase transaction has been performed. 
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Notes, assets 

Movements of each balance sheet’s items are analyzed in detail, according to the provisions of current legislation. 

Assets 

Intangible assets 

Assets value, net of depreciation and impairment, is 9.063.000 euro (6.151.000 euro in the previous fiscal year). 

Depreciation has been applied in accordance with the following schedule, which is believed to ensure a correct distribution 
of costs incurred during the useful life of assets including in this document: 

 

Intangible assets Period 

Installation and expansion costs 5 years in equal instalments 

Development costs 5 years in equal instalments 

Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights 5 years in equal instalments 

Other intangible assets Equal instalments for the duration of useful life 

 

Start-up and expansion costs have been recorded in the financial statements with the consent of the board of statutory 
auditors. They refer to long-term charges of 112 thousand euros. 

Development costs, equal to 8,422 thousand euros, were recorded in the balance sheet assets with the consent of the board 
of statutory auditors as they have, according to prudent judgment, the characteristics required by OIC 24: the costs are 
recoverable and are related to specific development projects that can be carried out and for which the company has the 
necessary resources. It is also believed that these projects will be productive of revenues to an extent that will recover the 
capitalization of costs. In the Report on operations, in the specific paragraph, the company's R&D activity is analytically 
illustrated. 

The industrial patents and intellectual property rights refer to costs relating to the purchase of title, as a license to use the 
application software both for a fixed term and for an indefinite period for the entire value budget. The industrial patents 
and intellectual property rights total 321 thousand euros and mainly refer to costs relating to the purchase of property, by 
way of a license to use the application software both on time determined that indefinitely, in addition to costs for the 
completion of one of the many projects carried out internally by the Automation Division of the Company's Machining BU 
thanks to the CMD Know-How built over the years, as better described below, in particular the project n. 19081, 
concerning the creation of different applications which by means of a device through which useful data are superimposed 
on what the operator is observing, giving three-dimensional indications and references; an "augmented reality" that can be 
successfully applied in production, maintenance and training activities. They are equal to 321 thousand euros. 

In the Report on Operations, in the specific paragraph, the activity of the Automation Division of the Company's 
Machining BU is analytically illustrated. 

Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights amount to € 200 thousand and refer to know-how costs for non-
patented technology. 

The other intangible assets include the value relating to the capitalization of long-term charges for a value of € 8 thousand. 
The public contributions received in relation to intangible assets were accounted for using the indirect method. The 
contributions, therefore, were charged to the income statement under item A5 "other revenues and income" and, therefore, 
deferred to the following years on an accrual basis through the recording of deferred income.Pursuant to and for the 
purposes of article 10 of law no. 72, and as also referred to in the subsequent monetary revaluation laws, it should be noted 
that no monetary revaluation has ever been carried out for intangible assets still existing in equity.It should be noted that 
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no write-downs pursuant to art. 2426 paragraph 1 no. 3 of the civil code since, as required by the accounting standard OIC 
9, there were no indicators of potential lasting losses in value of intangible assets. 

Intangible assets movements 

Intangible assets movements are described in the following scheme: 

 
Incorporation 

and subsequent 
expenses 

Development 
costs 

Industrial patent 
and intellectual 
property rights 

Concessions, 
licenses, 

trademarks and 
similar rights 

Other Intangible 
fixed assets 

Total Intangible 
fixed assets 

Value at the 
beginning of the 
period 

  

Cost 238.908 36.278.867 719.316 509.518 287.208 38.033.817

Amortizations 

 (Amortization 
Foud) 

79.083 30.365.175 697.918 470.640 269.617 31.882.433

Balance Sheet 
Value 

159.825 5.913.692 21.398 38.878 17.591 6.151.384

Variations during 
the period 

  

Increase - 5.610.303 466.002 270.095 - 6.346.400

Balance Sheet 
reclassification 

67.412 3.101.900 166.016 109.459 5.021 3.449.808

Amortization 

 
19.999 - - - (4.603) 15.396

Total variations (47.413) 2.508.403 299.986 160.636 (9.624) 2.911.988

Value at the end 
of the period 

  

Cost 258.907 41.889.170 1.185.318 779.613 282.605 44.395.613

Amortizations 

 (Amortization 
Foud) 

146.495 33.467.075 863.934 580.099 274.638 35.332.241

Balance Sheet 
Value 

112.412 8.422.095 321.384 199.514 7.967 9.063.372
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The increase in intangible assets of 2,912 thousand euros is mainly due to the capitalized costs that the Company incurs for 
the development of the GF56 and CMD22 aviation engine projects under the Development Contract, in addition to the 
projects for the development of energy projects. , related to the development of a micro-cogenerator powered by residual 
biomass for the production of electricity and for industrial production and the large-scale diffusion of micro-scale power 
systems, based on the coupling between downdraft gasifiers and combustion engines internal, and projects on marine 
engines, related to the development of the hybrid engine. In particular, the item development costs underwent an increase 
in the historical cost during the year 2019 of 5,610 thousand euros, of which 792 thousand euros for the purchase of 
materials, 1,873 thousand euros relating to technical services and collaborations, 2,946 thousand euros relating to the 
personnel costs used in the development activity. 

Detail composition of multi-year costs 

Start-up and expansion cost 

start-up and expansion costs, shown net of depreciation funds, amount to 112 thousand euros (160 thousand euros in the 
previous year). Compared to the previous year, there are no significant changes. This is mainly the depreciation of the 
year.As for the reasons for their registration and the respective depreciation criteria, please refer to the above. 

Development costs 

The following table shows the details of the development costs with evidence of the changes that have taken place 
compared to the previous year. 

As for the reasons for their registration and the respective depreciation criteria, please refer to the above. 

Description 2019 2018 
Absolute 
Variation 

Variation 
% 

GF56 Project 2.206.628 1.770.802 435.826 25

CMD 22 Project 3.165.574 2.807.749 357.825 13

PIROGASS Project 1.683.591 520.541 1.163.050 223

Hybrid Engine Project 1.366.302 814.600 551.702 68

Tot 8.422.095 5.913.692 2.508.403

Below we present the main R & D activities carried out by our company during the year in closing. 

 

The status of ongoing development projects is as follows: 

• GF56 development project: a two-stroke common rail diesel engine with a displacement of 5600 cc with aeronautical 
propulsion aimed at the General Aviation market, category CS23 and FAR 33 aircraft. General Aviation aircraft, with few 
exceptions, use engines traditional petrol, 4 and 6 cylinders, air cooled and supplied by Continental and Lycoming, which 
for almost 70 years have been sold in the same configuration. The petrol engines used in the AG have high operating costs 
(high fuel costs, difficult availability of the same, high maintenance costs), to which we must add another relevant aspect 
concerning pollution. For this reason, there are strong pressures both in the United States and in Europe for the reduction 
of emissions and therefore there is a strong push to search for an alternative to traditional petrol engines.In this market 
context, the potential of Diesel engines is considerable and precisely linked to the techno / economic advantages such as a 
lower purchase cost compared to the engines of the same American power and a lower fuel cost (diesel and kerosene) 
compared to aviation petrol. 

The CMD GF56 diesel engine offers, in summary, the following main advantages:- Significant reduction in fuel 
consumption (30 - 40%)- Possibility to use fuels such as Jet A-1 or JP 8 and greater safety (lower volatility)- Suitable for 
supercharging: high specific power and performance almost independent of altitude- High torques even at low engine 
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speeds: low weights and small size of the gearbox- Robustness, Reliability and Maintainability: longer intervals between 
subsequent maintenance, low consumption of lubricant- Variable environmental conditions (temperature, pressure)- 
Reduction of polluting emissions- Reduction of flammability compared to a petrol engine- Increase in flight range- 
Reduction of noise- Easy retrieval of kerosene at all airports.During the year 2020 the "test article" is expected to be 
created with the consequent start of certification tests, according to the EASA CS-E regulation.Recall that the CMD began 
the certification process in January 2019 with the presentation of the application, held, at its headquarters in Caserta, the 
Kick off meeting with the Program Certification Manager EASA and the conclusion of the "SOI-1" ( Stage of 
Involvement) relating to the construction of the FADEC GF56 engine.The conclusion of the project, as part of the 
Development Contract better described in the Report on operations at the 2019 financial statements, is expected in 2022 
following an extension of 12 months. 

• CMD22 development project: gasoline engine for the ultra light aviation segment, air-cooled equipped with 4-cylinders, 
operating on the Otto cycle, 4-stroke, with electronic fuel injection in the intake manifold ("indirect" injection ).Today on 
the market there are various types of piston engines with different characteristics, depending on whether they are intended 
for traditional ultralight aircraft (tubes and canvas) or the latest generation of ultralight aircraft made of composite material 
much closer to the world of General Aviation. In fact, the former are generally twin-cylinder, almost always 2-stroke with 
positive ignition, while the latter are in almost all cases with 4-cylinder 4-stroke. Considering this second class of engines, 
these are generally avionized versions of engines originally created for automotive applications, with the exception of the 
ROTAX 912 engine and the JABIRU 2200.The development activities by the CMD in relation to the CMD22 engine are 
aimed at making the weight / power ratio, that is the parameter that in the aeronautics sector has the greatest interest given 
the ever-present and nagging qualities of lightness that, at the same power, the designers of ULM they require the engines 
installed on board, lower than the competitors.In this regard, we point out that, during 2019, the CMD22 program has 
always evolved with a view to achieving the aeronautical objectives. The engine will see the introduction of water cooling, 
a decrease in displacement and a simplification of component manufacturing processes, an increase in performance. The 
goal is to build the first prototypes during 2020 and EASA certification of the same is expected for the year 2021.The 
conclusion of the project, as part of the Development Contract better described in the Report on operations at the 2019 
financial statements, is expected in 2022 following an extension of 12 months. 

At the end of the year 2019 (10/12/2019), CMD has obtained the Design Organization approval certificate (EASA 
21J.709) from EASA, valid for both aviation engine projects.Prestigious result given that it places CMD as the second 
Italian company to hold an approval from its organization with the aim of designing aircraft engines and the sixth in 
Europe. 

• Pirogass development project (Prometheus): carrying out activities aimed at defining a "reference bio-fuel" characterized 
by appropriate chemical-physical properties "built ad hoc". The subsequent experimentation will allow to evaluate the 
actual benefits produced by the identified pre-treatment processes, such as the already mentioned roasting or hydrothermal 
carbonization. The project is expected to end in 2020. 

• Pirogass development project (Bioplus): carrying out activities, already started during the previous year, of a numerical / 
experimental nature concerning the development of the original pyrogasifier project powered only with wood chips, in 
order to ensure the industrialization and market penetration of an innovative system, with high energy efficiency and 
including advanced micro-electronic technologies for increasing operating flexibility and long-term reliability. The main 
innovation element of the project concerned both the optimization of the micro-cogenerator from the point of view of both 
energy and environmental performance, and the ability to use bio-fuels deriving from suitably pre-treated residual 
materials. Micro-cogeneration, taken from BIOPLUS, will be the subject of immediate future industrialization and 
diffusion on the market as an integrated service technology for the valorisation of organic residues as a renewable energy 
source, and will be able to contribute concretely to the realization of a reliable, sustainable and sustainable future energy 
system. competitive, less and less based on the use of fossil fuels. The project is expected to end in 2020. 

• Hybrid engine development project: has as its objective the development of a hybrid marine propulsion system by 
carrying out analysis activities of the possible hybrid thermal-electric propulsion architectures for use in the maritime 
sector. The project is expected to end in 2020. 

The development costs listed above were deemed to be of repeated use, as they relate to terminal development projects, 
whose products are clearly identified, present a market and from whose marketing, based on market research carried out, 
are expected profit margins sufficient to cover also the amortization of capitalized costs.With reference to the 
aforementioned development projects, the absence of signs of lasting loss of value was noted, since the financial flows 
generated by the realization of these projects were not less than the amount of R&D costs capitalized at the end of the 
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exercise.For a better understanding of the research and development activities in which the Company is engaged, please 
refer to the Management Report. 

Tangible assets 

These are consumer durables being part of the Company. 

The concept of “durables” is strictly connected to their final use. 

They are normally used as income tools, like buildings and equipment used for production of the goods that determine the 
income of the company and are thus not intended for sale or transformation. 

Whether Company intends to sell any tangible assets, they are separated from tangible assets under current fiscal year’s 
precise item. 

Ordinary depreciations, highlighted in these financial statements, have been calculated on rates’ basis, considered 
representative of residual possibility of application. 

 

Tangible assets depreciation has been made as follows: 

 

Tangible Assets Rate % 

Land and Buildings 1,5 

Plant and Equipments 2,5 

10,0 

Industrial and commercial equipments 6,25 

12,5 

25,0 

Other goods  

- Office electronic machinery;  

- furniture and accessories;  

- trucks 

- cars and motorcycles 

 

20 

12 

20 

25 

 

Any assets disposal (transfers, scrapping, etc) during current yearled to cancel their residual value. Any difference between 
financial value and disposal value has been recorded into P&L. 

Chosen rates are based on an estimate of residual useful economic lifetime taking various factors into account, such as 
obsolescence, severity of use, maintenance policy and contract’s terms of use. 

As per tangible assets purchased during current fiscal year, abovementioned rates has been reduced by half for since the 
depreciation charge does not deviate significantly from the quota calculated from the moment in which the asset is 
available and ready for use.  

The criteria for depreciation of tangible assets are not varied with respect to those applied in previous fiscal years.  

Accounting for government grants received relative to tangible assets was carried out according to the indirect method. 
Contributions were charged to item A5 of the income statement "Other income and revenues” and then returned to 
subsequent year accounts through the inclusion of deferred income.  

Monetary re-evaluation rates for material goods as per art. 10 of law n. 72 dated 19 March 1983 and subsequent 
modifications are highlighted in the following table. 
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Description Amount 

Plant Atella 1 

Cost 3.918.458

Law n.2/2009 1.408.597

Amortization Foud 2.388.031-

Law n.2/2009 507.237-

 2.431.787

Plant Atella 2 

Cost 2.059.113

Law n.2/2009 799.198

Amortization Foud 647.192-

Law n.2/2009 58.245-

 2.152.874

Morra de Sanctis Plant 

Cost 1.453.095

Law n.2/2009 582.238

Amortization Foud 468.140-

Law n.2/2009 53.017-

 1.514.176

 

As per ex art. 2426 subparagraph 1 n. 3 of the civil code, no devaluation has been carried out, because, according with OIC 
9 accounting principle, there is no evidence of tangible assets potential depreciation indicators.  

The company has separately recorded the land under the owned buildings and for the same no amortization has been made 
since these are assets for which there is no provision for the use of the future utility. 

 Tangible Assets Movements 

Amount of tangible fixed assets, gross of related depreciation funds, is 70,2513 k€; amortization funds amount is to 30,834 
k€. 

The following table shows the movements of tangible assets: 

 
Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
machinery 

Production and 
commercial 
equipment 

Other tangible 
fixed assets 

 

Tangible in 
progress and 
payments on 

accounts 

Total tangible 
fixed assets 

Value at the 
beginning of the 
period 
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Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
machinery 

Production and 
commercial 
equipment 

Other tangible 
fixed assets 

 

Tangible in 
progress and 
payments on 

accounts 

Total tangible 
fixed assets 

Cost 18.148.973 24.222.893 18.834.783 2.826.533 2.023.949 66.057.131

Amortizations 

 (Amortization 
Foud) 

4.192.898 9.746.442 12.201.425 2.244.889 - 28.385.654

Balance Sheet 
Value 

13.956.075 14.476.451 6.633.358 581.644 2.023.949 37.671.477

Variations during 
the period 

  

Increase 146.647 836.870 929.747 111.743 2.167.076 4.192.083

Balance Sheet 
reclassification 

- 646.909 - - (646.909) -

Decrease - - - 22.978 - 22.978

Amortization 203.953 927.917 1.159.867 135.201 - 2.426.938

other - - - 3.971 - 3.971

   

Total variation (57.306) 555.862 (230.120) (42.465) 1.520.167 1.746.138

Value at the end 
of the period 

  

Cost 18.148.974 24.222.893 18.859.728 2.826.533 2.023.950 66.082.077

Amortizations 

 (Amortization 
Foud) 

 

4.192.898 9.746.442 12.226.370 2.244.889

 

0 28.410.599

Balance Sheet 
Value 

13.956.076 14.476.451 6.633.358 581.644 2.023.950  37.671.478 

 

The main increases for the year concerned: 

- work on the industrial building, factory, located in the Municipality of Atella (PZ), in the Industrial Area of the Vitalba 
Valley owned by the Bankruptcy Litostampa Ottaviano S.r.l., for an amount equal to 147 thousand euros, plus ancillary 
charges. 

- plants and machinery for a total amount of 1,243 thousand euros relating to the purchase of new plants and machinery 
aimed at improving the Company's production capacity, in addition to 241 thousand euros relating to the completion of 
two projects, no. 17030 and n. 17008, made internally by the Automation Division of the Company's Machining BU for 
the construction of "robotic islands" for mechanical processing lines, thanks to the CMD Know-How built over the years, 
as better described below in the Report on the budget management of the year 2019; 

- industrial and commercial equipment for a total amount of € 930 thousand relating to the purchase of new equipment 
aimed at supporting the Company's production capacity; 

- other tangible fixed assets for a total amount of 112 thousand euros mainly relating to the purchase of new furnishings, 
notebooks, servers and cars; 

- fixed assets in progress for a total amount of 3,544 thousand euros mainly related to the purchase of a helicopter for 89 
thousand euros which, as it has not yet entered into operation, has not been amortized; advances paid for the purchase of a 
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shed for 1,213 thousand euros, for the purchase of two CNC machines for 1,127 thousand euros; for work in progress on 
the industrial building, factory, located in the Municipality of Atella (PZ), in the Vitalba Valley Industrial Area owned by 
the Bankruptcy Litostampa Ottaviano S.r.l., for an amount of approximately 738 thousand euros; in addition to the 
construction of 5 test benches at the Atella site for an amount of approximately 776 thousand euros. Also included in the 
item under comment are costs for the realization of two ongoing projects, no. 19077 and n. 19075, made internally by the 
Automation Division of the Company's Machining BU (51 thousand euros), thanks to the CMD Know-How built over the 
years. 

These projects are better described in the 2019 Financial Report Management Report. 

Finally, note the reclassification present in the tangible fixed assets in progress and advances (item B.II.5) for the amount 
of 647 thousand euros, relating to the assets previously registered under this item and which have now become available 
and ready for use, appropriately located in these financial statements under the item plant and machinery. 

There are no significant disposals. 

Leasing Operations 

Assets purchased under finance leases are recorded, as required by the Legislator, according to the equity method, with the 
survey of lease payments between financial costs. 

The following table shows the information required by the Legislator in order to represent, even if on an exra-financial 
basis, the implications deriving from the difference in accounting with respect to the financial method, in which the user 
company would recognize the asset received under fixed assets and calculate on this asset related to depreciation, while at 
the same time the debt for the principal amount of the fees to be paid is recorded. In this case, the interest and the portion 
of amortization pertaining to the year would be recognized in the income statement 

  

 Amount 

2018 Financial leasing total amount 3.181.230

2018 Amortization  106.455

Current value of installments does not expire at the end of 2018 1.763.316

Financial expenses for the year based on the effective interest rate 38.427

 

The Company has four leasing contracts for cars in progress, none of which have a five-year residual duration. During the 
year, a real estate leasing contract was entered into in December of the previous year for a shed which will expire in 
September 2030. 

There were no leasing redemptions outstanding at 1/1. 

 

Financial fixed assets 

The Company holds financial fixed assets at the end of the year for 45 thousand euros. 

Compared to the previous year, the balance sheet item has not changed. 

Equity investments in other companies amount to € 16 thousand. 

Fixed assets are equal to 29 thousand euros. 

Movements of equity, other shares, and fixed assets derivatives  

Assets movements are described in the following scheme: 
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Investments in other 

companies 
Total financial investments Other Stocks 

Value at the beginning of the 
period 

 

Cost 15.950 15.950 50.409

Depreciation - - 20.920

Balance Sheet Value 15.950 15.950 29.489

Variations during the period  

Increase  

Decrease for assets divestment 
(book value) 

 

Depreciation  

Total variation  

Value at the end of the period  

Cost 15.950 15.950 50.409

Depreciation - - 20.920

Balance Sheet Value 15.950 15.950 29.489

 

Value of financial fixed assets 

The financial fixed assets in the financial statements have not been entered at a value greater than their fair value. 

The details of the equity investments entered in the financial statements are as follows: 

 

Description                           Financial value                                Fair value 

Distretto Aerospaziale Pugliese 1.500 1.500

Ga.Fi. Sud ScpA 250 250

Consorzio Ritam Euro 4.000 4.000

Sistema Campania Scarl 1.000 1.000

Cluster Energia Basilicata 500 500

Cluster Machining Basilicata 700 700

Consorzio Zefiro 8.000 8.000

 

All the investments are recorded in the financial fixed assets as they represent a long-term and strategic investment for the 
company. 

The investments recorded at purchase cost have not been depreciated because they have not undergone any lasting loss in 
value. 
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Current Assets 

For this item we arranged specific detailed charts, reported on the following pages, showing each single item’s nature and 
their related change for the periods. 

Inventory 

Inventories amount to 16,762 thousand euros at the end of the year (10,905 thousand euros at the end of last year).The 
inventories recorded in the financial statements include the inventories in the Company's factories and warehouses (with 
the exception of those received from third parties to view, test, process and / or deposit), the inventories owned by the 
Company with third parties and traveling goods for which the Company has already acquired the title.Warehouse 
inventories are mainly composed of raw materials, subsidiaries and consumables and are valued according to the criteria 
illustrated above.Note that warehouse stocks are not subject to liens.The following table shows information relating to 
changes in inventories. 

 
Value at the beginning of 
the period 

Variations during the 
period 

Value at the end of the 
period 

Raw materials, ancillary materials and 
consumables 

6.985.700 698.783 7.684.483

Work in progress and semi finished goods 720.305 (281.888) 438.417

Finished goods and goods for resale 2.745.715 4.617.417 7.363.132

Down payments 452.962 822.940 1.275.902

Total 10.904.682 5.857.252 16.761.934

 

The increase in the value of inventories mainly derives from the expansion of the operating capacity of the energy business 
unit thanks to the collaboration with players in the sector which led to an increase in finished products mainly represented 
by the ECO 20 pyrogasifier to be sold during the following year.Receivables entered in current assetsThe item in question 
amounts to a total of 23,580 thousand euros at the end of the year (32,422 thousand euros at the end of the previous one) 
and mainly includes trade receivables from third party customers, equal to 11,999 thousand euros, net of a provision for 
bad debts equal to 1,983 thousand euros, which assumes tax relevance for 308 thousand euros, as well as receivables from 
parent company equal to 324 thousand euros, tax credits equal to 2,012 thousand euros, prepaid taxes of 986 thousand 
euros and receivables from others equal to 8,259 thousand euros.Trade receivables from customers due within the year 
relate to receivables deriving from normal sales transactions and are mainly from domestic customers. For these 
receivables, which are expected to be recovered in normal commercial terms, the Company has not used the amortized cost 
measurement method.Furthermore, it should be noted that during the first month of 2020 the Company collected around 
20% of the total amount of receivables from customers.In order to minimize the risks of insolvency against some 
distributors, the Company has sold the receivables pro-solvendo to the financial operator GROUPAMA, the amount of 
which continues to be entered in the item in question. During the financial year 2019, it transferred the receivables without 
recourse to the operator FIDIS, the amount of which was instead deducted from the balance sheet item under analysis. The 
commission relating to this service is charged to the income statement under costs for services (item B7). The reduction in 
the Bad Debt Provision during the year is due to the absorption of losses consequent to the claimed bad debt of the related 
trade receivables or allocation made during the year to adjust the value of the receivables to their presumed realizable 
value partially offset by the use in the exercise against receivables which are no longer collectable or partially 
collected.The movement of the provision is shown in the following table (values in units of euros): 

 

  31.12.2019 31.12.2018 

Value at the beginning of the period 2.232.661 2.232.661 

Provision 2019 100.000 

   Use 349.730   
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   Value at the end of the period 1.982.931 2.332.661 

 

Receivables from customers are fully payable within the following year. 

Receivables from parent companies follow the reversal of costs incurred in the interest of Loncin Motor Co. Ltd.   

The tax credit item mainly includes the tax credit consequent to the so-called R&D bonus (1,983 thousand euros) resulting 
from the research projects best described in the management report.The item deferred tax assets includes taxes relating to 
positive or negative components of income respectively subject to taxation or deduction in different financial years from 
those of statutory accounting.  

Deferred tax assets, in respect of the principle of prudence, are recognized if there is reasonable certainty of the existence 
in the years in which they will be paid out of a taxable income not lower than the amount of the differences that will be 
canceled. 

Details of deferred tax assets are described as follows: 

Details 
At the 

beginning of the 
period 

increase decrease 
At the end of 

the period 
Variaz. 
assoluta 

Variaz. % 

Receivables for Grants 7.374.350 3.963.881 3.311.093 8.027.138 652.788 9

Financial receivables 3.683.305 - 3.683.305 - 3.683.305- 100-

Other Receivables 572.652 - 340.558 232.094 340.558- 59-

Tot 11.630.307 3.963.881 7.334.956 8.259.232 3.371.075-

The change in receivables from others is mainly attributable to the collection of receivables from Ministries for 
contributions of 2,765 thousand euros and to the collection of financial receivables for the without-recourse transfer of 
3,683 thousand euros of trade receivables from previous years, as well as the increase in receivables from public entities 
for grants of 3,417 thousand, as a consequence of the Development Contract initiated by the Company, as more fully 
described in the Report on operations at the 2019 financial statements.In particular, the receivables from public bodies for 
contributions as of 31 December 2019 are detailed below:- Do you believe in ministries for a total of 7,496 thousand 
euros;- Receivables from Regions for a total of € 531 thousand.Finally, receivables from others, totaling 232 thousand 
euros, mainly include advances paid to suppliers for processing of 82 thousand euros. 

Current loans and receivables variations and expiration date 

Information related to current loans and receivables variations and expiration date, should it be important, are described in 
following scheme: 

 
Value at the 
beginning of the 
period 

Variations during the 
period 

Value at the end of 
the period 

Due within 12 months

Trade Receivables 17.460.155 (5.461.231) 11.998.924 11.998.924

Parent company receivables 312.546 11.198 323.744 323.744

Tax Credit 2.491.251 (479.675) 2.011.576 2.011.576

Prepaid taxes 528.086 458.140 986.226 -

Other Receivables 11.630.307 (3.371.075) 8.259.232 8.259.232

Total Amount 32.422.345 (8.842.643) 23.579.702 22.593.476
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Subdivision of current loans and receivables shared by geographical area 

The geographical allocation for current loans and receivables is described in the following scheme. 

Geographical 
partition 

Trade 
Receivables 

Parent company 
receivables 

Tax Credit Prepaid taxes 
Other 

Receivables 
Total receivables 
in Current Assets

Italy 11.748.729 - 2.011.576 986.226 8.259.232 23.005.763

UE 103.370 - - - - 103.370

Europe extra UE 26.377 - - - - 26.377

Rest of the world 120.448 323.744 - - - 444.192

Total amount 11.998.924 323.744 2.011.576 986.226 8.259.232 23.579.702

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents total € 14,909 thousand (€ 3,117 thousand at the end of the previous year) and are entirely made 
up of bank current accounts. 

The following table shows information about changes in cash and cash equivalent assets. 

 
Value at the beginning of 
the period 

Variations during the 
period 

Value at the end of the 
period 

Bank and post office deposits 3.116.956 11.791.870 14.908.826

Cash and valuables on hand 334 2.194 2.528

Total Amount 3.117.290 11.794.064 14.911.354

 

The collection of approximately € 11 million following the signing of the loan contracts for the Capex line and for the 
R&D line under the Development Contract, better described below in the paragraph on payables to banks, led to an 
increase in cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2019 compared to December 31, 2018. 

Accruals and deferrals 

Accruals and deferrals have been calculated on the basis of the accrual principle, by allocating revenues and / or costs 
common to two fiscal years. 

The existence or permanence of the time condition has been verified in the registration as well as in the review of long-
term prepaid expenses. 

The following scheme shows the information about changes in accrued income and prepaid expenses. 

 

 
Value at the beginning of the 
period 

Variations during the period Value at the end of the period 

Prepaid Expenses and Accrued 
Income 

912.504 257.299 1.169.803

Total Prepaid Expenses and 
Accrued Income 

912.504 257.299 1.169.803

 

The change in prepayments compared to the previous year mainly derives from the absorption of the portion pertaining to 
the year of the maxi leasing fees in progress, of the tax installments, of the accessory charges incurred for the issue of the 
bond loan on the market, such as legal fees and of another nature connected with the issue of the loan itself, and deferred in 
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the period of duration of the bond loan to which reference is made, in addition to the absorption of the insurance costs at 
the turn of the year and the costs incurred for the start of a loan, deferred over the term of the loan.At the reporting date of 
the year, there are prepayments over five years for 202 thousand euros.    

Capitalised borrowing costs 

Interests and other financial charges have been completely recorded in the current fiscal year. For the purposes of art. 
2427, c. 1, n. 8 of the Civil Code, Company therefore states that there are no capitalised borrowing costs. 

Notes, liabilities and equity 

The items of equity and liabilities in financial statements have been recorded in accordance with national accounting 
standards; in the sections related to the individual items, the criteria specifically applied are indicated. 

The movements of each balance sheet items are analyzed in detail, according to the provisions of current legislation. 

 

Equity 

Equity value at the end of the year is 42,001 k€ (41,067 k€ in the previous year). 

Items are described in financial statements at their accounting value, according guidelines included in OIC 28 accounting 
principle. 

Equity changes 

With reference to the closing year, the following schemes will describe variations of equity’s each single item, as well as 
other reserves details.    

The main change compared to last year is represented by the allocation of 2017 profit to the legal reserve pursuant to art. 
2430 c.c. and for the residual part of the extraordinary reserve. 

The other change follows the cancellation of the reserve for cash flow hedging operations expected for the extinction of the 
derivative contract that the Company had entered into with Banca Popolare di Ancona to hedge the interest risk connected 
to its debt repaid on 4 / 12/2019, as better indicated below. This instrument had been designated as a hedging financial 
instrument (pursuant to the indications provided by IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement), 
therefore, the mark to market at 31/12/2018, equal to euro - 376,899 had been detected , as a balancing entry to the 
aforementioned equity reserve, in a specific provision for risks in B3 "derivative financial instruments" of the same 
amount and, therefore, as a consequence of the extinction of the aforementioned hedging contract with Banca Popolare di 
Ancona, also it zeroed, as better indicated below. 

 

 
Value at the 

beginning of the 
period 

Other variations - 
Increase 

Other Variations –
Decrease 

Net income (loss) 
for the accounting 

period 

Value at the end of 
the period 

Share capital 16.829.887 - - - 16.829.887

Share premium 
reserve 

11.872.768 - - - 11.872.768

Legal reserve 462.190 111.721 - - 573.911
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Value at the 

beginning of the 
period 

Other variations - 
Increase 

Other Variations –
Decrease 

Net income (loss) 
for the accounting 

period 

Value at the end of 
the period 

Statutory reserves 34.623 - - - 34.623

Payments for capital 
increase 

1.490.730 - - - 1.490.730

Other reserves 8.518.996 2.122.699 3 - 10.641.698

Total other reserves 10.009.726 2.122.699 8 5 12.132.428

Reserve for hedging 
of expected cash 
flows 

(376.899) - 376.899 - -

Fiscal year profit 
(loss) 

2.234.418 (2.234.418) - 557.388 557.388

Total amount 41.066.713 2 376.902 557.388 42.001.005

Other reserves (details) 

Description Amount 

Reserve Incomes 9.731.629

Reserve Fund PIA 298 II bando 375.227

Reserve Fund PIA 299 II bando 534.843

Reserve Rounding (€) (1)

Tot 10.641.698

Equity availability and use  

Equity entries, along with their origin specifications, possibility of use and distribution, as well as their successful use in 
the previous three fiscal years, are described in the following scheme: 

 

Description Amount (€) Kind Possibility of use Share available  

Share capital 16.829.887 Capitale B - 

Share premium 
reserve 

11.872.768 Capitale A;B 11.872.768 

Legal reserve 573.911 Utili A;B 573.911 

Statutory reserves 34.623 Utili A;B;C 34.623 

Payments for capital 
increase 

1.490.730 Capitale A;B 1.490.730 

Other reserves 10.641.698 Capitale A;B;C 10.641.698 

Total other reserves 12.132.428 Capitale  12.132.428 

Total amount 41.443.617   24.613.730 

Share not available    2.141.814 
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Description Amount (€) Kind Possibility of use Share available  

Residual share 
available 

 22.471.916 

Legend: A: for capital increase; B: to cover losses; C: for distribution to shareholders; D: for other statutory restrictions; E:Other

Origin, possibility of use and distribution of the various other reserves 

Description Amount Kind Possibility of use 

Reserve Rounding (€) 9.731.629 Utili A;B;C 

EXTRAORDINARY RESERVE 375.227 Capitale  

F.DO RIS. PIA298 II°BANDO 534.843 Capitale  

F.DO RIS. PIA299 II°BANDO (1) Capitale  

Total amount 10.641.698   

Legend: A: for capital increase; B: to cover losses; C: for distribution to shareholders; D: for other statutory restrictions ; E: Other 

 

Changes in the hedging reserve for planned financial transactions 

Pursuant to art. 2427-bis, paragraph 1b-quater of Civil Code, fair value reserve movements for the current fiscal year are 
described in the following scheme: 

 
Value at the beginning of the 

period 
Other Variation during the 

period – Increase/Decrease 
 

Reserve for hedging of expected 
cash flows 

(376.899) 376.899 

 

The new art. 2426, point 11-bis c.c., modified by Law Decree n. 139/2015 upon actuation of EU Directive 34/2013, 
imposes, according to the international accounting principles, the inclusion of derivative financial instruments underwritten 
by the company, depending whether fair values are indicated as positive or negative in financial statements’ assets or 
liabilities sections. 

In particular, it is pointed out that if the mechanism covers the risk of expected cash flow variation of another financial 
instrument or a scheduled task (cash flow hedge), the fair value of the derivative instrument is charged directly to an ad 
hoc equity reserve. 

In this regard, it should be noted that the Company had decided to apply hedge accounting to hedge the variability of the 
cash flows of financial liabilities relating to a pool loan due to the fluctuations in interest rates and, therefore, for the 
purpose of preparation of the financial statements, the mark to market as at 31/12/2018 communicated by the bank, equal 
to - 376,899 euros, had been recorded, as previously reported, in a specific equity reserve (in the item AVII "Reserve for 
expected cash flow hedging transactions ") whose balance sheet entry is a risk provision in B 3" passive financial 
derivative instruments "of the same amount.On 4/12/2019, it should be noted that the Company has extinguished the 
derivative contract entered into with Banca Popolare di Ancona to cover the interest risk associated with its debt which has 
also been extinguished, as better indicated below.As a result of the aforementioned extinction, the Company zeroed the 
equity reserve (under item AVII "Reserve for expected cash flow hedging transactions") set up and, simultaneously, the 
risk provision in B 3 "financial instruments passive derivatives ”, equity entry of the same amount of the aforementioned 
reserve, as better indicated below.The other change follows the cancellation of the reserve for cash flow hedging 
operations expected for the extinction of the derivative contract that the Company had entered into with Banca Popolare di 
Ancona to hedge the interest risk connected to its debt repaid on 4 / 12/2019, as better indicated below. This instrument 
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had been designated as a hedging financial instrument (pursuant to the indications provided by IAS 39 - Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement), therefore, the mark to market at 31/12/2018, equal to euro - 376,899 had 
been detected , as a balancing entry to the aforementioned equity reserve, in a specific provision for risks in B3 "derivative 
financial instruments" of the same amount and, therefore, as a consequence of the extinction of the aforementioned 
hedging contract with Banca Popolare di Ancona, also it zeroed, as better indicated below. 

Further details are provided below on the individual shareholders' equity items. 

The share capital is fully subscribed and paid up at 31 December 2019. It is composed of 16,829,887 ordinary shares with 
a nominal value of 1 euro. The company has chosen the dematerialisation of equities. 

Composition of the capital share is below described: 

 

DESCRIPTION AMOUNT 

Shareholders payments 11.819.642 

Incomes 925.685 

Revaluation reserves (L. 2/2009) 3.000.000 

Riserve (Art. 32 L. 219/1981) 1.084.559 

Total Amount 16.829.887 

 

The share premium reserve undergoes the constraint pursuant to art. 2431 c.c. 

The legal reserve, ex art. 2430 c.c.,is subject to the constraints established by the aforementioned law. 

The statutory reserve derives from the consequent inclusion of a text related to bylaws no longer in force. 

Profit distribution is subject to the constraint of art. 2426, paragraph 1, n. 5, for an amount equal to 8,535 k€. 

Provisions for risks and charges 

Provisions for risks and charges have been allocated to cover liabilities whose existence is considered certain or probable, 
for which the amount or date of contingency can not be determined at the end of the financial year. 

The establishment of the funds was carried out on the basis of the principles of prudence and competence, observing the 
requirements of the accounting standard OIC 31. The related provisions are recorded in the income statement for the year, 
on the basis of the classification criterion "by nature" of costs. 

The following table shows information relating to changes in provisions for risks and charges.The change indicated in the 
prospectus is the consequence of the zeroing of the reserve for cash flow hedging operations expected for the extinction of 
the derivative contract that the Company had entered into with Banca Popolare di Ancona to hedge the interest risk 
connected to its extinguished debt on 4/12/2019, as better indicated below. This instrument had been designated as a 
hedging financial instrument (pursuant to the indications provided by IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement), therefore, the mark to market at 31/12/2018, equal to euro - 376,899 had been detected , as a balancing 
entry to the ah hoc equity reserve set up (Reserve for hedging operations of expected cash flows), in a specific provision 
for risks in B3 "derivative financial instruments" of the same amount which, due to the extinction of the aforementioned 
contract coverage with Banca Popolare di Ancona, was also canceled, as previously better indicated. 

 
Value at the 

beginning of the 
period 

Variations durign the 
period - Use 

Variations durign the 
period - Total 

 

Derivative liabilities 376.899 (376.899) (376.899) 

Total amount 376.899 (376.899) (376.899) 
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Employee Termination Indemnities (TFR) 

The TFR has been calculated in accordance with art. 2120 of the Civil Code, taking into account the laws and specific 
nature of the contracts and professional categories, and includes the annual instalments accrued and revaluations carried 
out on the basis of the ISTAT coefficients. 

The amount of the fund is recognized net of advanced payments and quotas used for cessation of employment during the 
financial year, and represents the actual debt owed to Company employees at the financial statements date.  

Employee severance indemnities are recorded under liabilities for 407 €k (429€k  in the previous year). 

The following table shows the information about changes in employee termination indemnities: 

 

 
Value at the 

beginning of the 
period 

Variations during 
the period - 
Provision 

Variations during 
the period - Use 

Variations during 
the period - Total 

Value at the end 
of the period 

Employee Termination 
Indemnities (TFR) 

428.996 6.451 28.546 (22.095) 406.901

Totale 428.996 6.451 28.546 (22.095) 406.901

Payables 

Payables have been recorded in the financial statements according to the amortized cost criterion, as defined by article 
2426 c.2 c.c., taking into account the time factor, in compliance with the provisions of art. 2426, paragraph 1, n. 8 of the 
civil code. For debts for which the irrelevance of the application of the amortized cost method and / or discounting has 
been verified, for the purpose of providing a truthful and correct representation of the company patrimonial and economic 
situation, the registration has been made according to nominal value. This event occurred, for example, in the presence of 
debts with a maturity of less than twelve months or, with reference to the amortized cost criterion, in the event that 
transaction costs, commissions and any other difference between initial value and maturity value are of low importance or, 
again, in the case of discounting, in the presence of an interest rate inferable from the contractual conditions not 
significantly different from the market interest rate. 

Furthermore, it is specified that, pursuant to the provisions of article 12 paragraph 2 of the d. lgs. 139/2015, the Company 
applied the amortized cost criterion exclusively to payables recorded in the financial statements for the current year. 

The classification of the debts among the various debt items is carried out on the basis of the nature (or origin) of the same 
with respect to ordinary operations regardless of the period of time within which the liabilities must be extinguished. 

Payables’ variations and expiries 

Debt variations and any information about their expiry date are reported in the following table: 

 

 
Value at the 

beginning of the 
period 

Variations durign 
the period 

Value at the end 
of the period 

Due within one 
year 

Due after one year

Bond 4.000.000 1.984.000 5.984.000 1.584.000 4.400.000

Shareholder loan - 1.881.000 1.881.000 - 1.881.000

Banks 9.230.092 8.140.110 17.370.202 4.484.049 12.886.153

Other financiers 5.772.285 477.104 6.249.389 6.214.655 34.734

Advances 160.025 118.537 278.562 278.562 -

Trade payables 9.489.354 3.225.059 12.714.413 12.714.413 -
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Value at the 

beginning of the 
period 

Variations durign 
the period 

Value at the end 
of the period 

Due within one 
year 

Due after one year

Parent Company 260.000 130.000 390.000 390.000 -

Taxes 9.891.861 (5.258.673) 4.633.188 1.228.691 3.404.497

Provident and social security 
institutions 

647.187 (93.806) 553.381 540.691 12.690

Others 1.031.356 6.629 1.037.985 1.037.985 -

Total Amount 40.482.160 10.609.960 51.092.120 28.473.046 22.619.074

 

At the end of the year, amounts due to banks with a residual duration of more than five years for 9,267 thousand euros are 
entered in the balance sheet.The bonds relate to the issue of a bond loan (hereafter also Minibond or Bond Loan) with a 
duration of 6 years and 6 months from the issue date of 06/30/2015, expiring on 12/31/2021, issued at the nominal gross 
annual fixed rate of 5% (with reference to the accrual of interest subsequent to the balance sheet date), to be paid in 
arrears, on a half-yearly basis, on June 30 and December 31 of each financial year.The securities were subscribed by 
AMUNDI (formerly Pioneer) and are listed on the ExtraMOT Pro3 market managed by Borsa Italiana SpA.It should also 
be noted that on 28/03/2019 the Company collected additional 3,040 thousand euros following the issue of new bonds (38 
fixed rate non-convertible bonds with a nominal value of 80 thousand each.). The total nominal amount of the Loan 
amounts to € 7,040 thousand. 

The Minibond is therefore an amortising type with 42 months of pre-amortization (instead of the previous 36 months); 
repayment in 4 increasing annual installments starting from 31/12/2018, with the payment of the first installment of Euro 
1,000 thousand plus interest. Following the AMUNDI resolution of 7 March 2019, the remaining 3 Redemption 
Installments starting from 31 December 2019 up to the expiry date (included) have been modified as indicated in the 
following table: 

EXPIRY DATE AMOUNT 

31/12/2019 1.056mila euro

31/12/2020 1.584mila euro

31/12/2021 4.400mila euro

In this regard, it should be noted that on 31/12/2019 the payment of the second installment falling due of Euro 1,056 
thousand was made plus interest. Therefore, the overall nominal amount of the Loan, at 31 December 2019, is equal to 
approximately 5,984 thousand euros. 

Two covenants of a financial nature recognized at the end of each year are envisaged within the context of this Bond Loan: 

- Net Financial Debt / Net Equity; 

- Net Financial Debt / EBITDA; 

At 31/12/2019 the Company respects both covenants. 

Starting from 2015, the Company is subject to public rating by the Cerved Rating Agency. As of 04/04/2019 Cerved 
confirmed the B 1.2 rating. 

Amounts due to shareholders for loans of 1,881 thousand euros are analyzed in the specific paragraph of this document. 

Short-term payables to banks, of approximately 4,484 thousand euros, refer to the short-term portion of the loans that the 
company has at 31.12.2019 and contractual advances. 

As is already known, during the 2018 financial year the Company contracted a 2 million euro loan with Lendix / October 
for a duration of 30 months, with 6 months of pre-amortization, to finance part of the investment plan which includes new 
production, machinery and equipment under the Development Contract, better described in the Report on Operations at the 
2019 Financial Statements, at a fixed interest rate of 4.5%. The repayment of the principal amount is monthly up to 
05/02/2021. In this regard, it should be noted that on 31/12/2019 all payments are in line with the amortization plan of the 
aforementioned loan. 
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On 28 June 2019 the Company entered into a loan agreement with Banca Progetto SpA for a total amount of 1 million 
euro, at a nominal annual rate of 5.50%, with a duration of 36 months with monthly repayment starting from 31 / 07/2019. 
In this regard, it should be noted that on 31/12/2019 all payments are in line with the amortization plan of the 
aforementioned loan. 

In order to pursue its plan for productive investments and research and development related to the Development Contract, 
within which the Facilitated Loan and the Lost Fund Contributions will be disbursed, which will allow it to develop the 
Avio business unit, ensuring an appropriate differentiation and an increasingly international opening of its business, more 
fully described in the Report on operations at the 2019 financial statements, on 04/12/2019 the Company signed two loan 
agreements: 

- "Capex Line" loan agreement; 

- "R&D Line" loan agreement.T 

he first contract was signed between the Company and a pool of banks, Intesa Sanpaolo SpA, Mediocredito Centrale SpA 
and Banco BPM SpA, SACE as guarantor of the operation and Banca IMI as agent bank, in order to find the resources to 
finance its industrial development plan to supplement the Facilitated Loan and the Loan Fund contribution provided for in 
the Development Contract. The loan has the characteristics of a long-term credit line (Capex) for a total maximum amount 
not exceeding € 7,064,961, to be repaid in quarterly installments starting from 31/12/2022 at the rate of 2.85% + Euribor at 
3 months. As of the date of this document, 2,400 thousand euros have already been disbursed, the remaining part will be 
disbursed following the reports submitted under the Development Contract.The second contract was signed between the 
Company and Intesa Sanpaolo (Equiter) in order to grant the Company a loan from the EIB / MIUR Research and 
Innovation Fund to be used for carrying out the research and development project, for a maximum total amount not 
exceeding € 8,397,872, to be repaid in quarterly installments starting from 31/12/2021, at the nominal annual fixed rate of 
0.67%. 

Also for these two loans, two financial covenants are recognized at the end of each year: 

- Net Financial Debt / Net Equity; 

- Net Financial Debt / EBITDA. 

It should be noted that the Company at 31/12/2019 respects both covenants.Following the stipulation of the 
aforementioned latest loan agreements, the Company has extinguished the previous Interest Rate Swap contract, re-
modulated on 04/08/2016 with Banca Popolare di Ancona to hedge the interest risk associated with its debt, in order to 
stipulate two more, again to cover the interest risk connected, however, to the new 50% pool debt with Intesa Sam Paolo 
and Banco BPM above. The signing of these new derivative contracts was made on 10/02/2020 with both institutions, with 
a notional value of 1,200 thousand euros each, in line with the underlying pooled transaction with a total value of 2,400 
thousand euros maturing in 04. / 12/2029. The bank parameter is the 3-month Euribor, the customer parameter is 0.0390%. 
This instrument has been designated as a hedging financial instrument (pursuant to the indications provided by OIC 32 - 
Derivative financial instruments. Since the stipulation was concluded on 10/02/2020, any fair value of the derivative 
instrument will be recognized, as per the accounting standards indicated above, in a specific equity reserve (under item 
AVII "Reserve for hedging operations of expected cash flows") whose balance sheet entry will be a provision for risks in 
B 3 "derivative financial instruments" of the same amount, if the mark to market at the end of the 2020 financial year has a 
negative value; the balance sheet of the aforementioned reserve will be among the "Financial fixed assets" in item B) III 4) 
derivative financial instruments active, if the mark to market at the end 2020 will have a positive value. 

Payables to other lenders mainly refer to the debt to the factoring company GROUPAMA relating to the sale without 
recourse of the turnover produced with customers such as FPT Industrial, FCA, etc. 

The advance payments item includes advances received from customers relating to advances on supplies of goods and 
services provided for in the contract.Trade payables relate to commercial transactions in normal payment terms all with 
due dates within the year. The Company therefore did not use the amortized cost measurement method for these payables. 
Finally, it should be noted that the increase for the year is due to the investments under the Development Contract, as 
previously indicated, and to the transition from the "work account" to the "full account" which took place only at the end 
of the 2018 financial year in relation to the contract. of the cylinder heads. 

Payables to parent companies include costs for seconded personnel of Loncin Motor Co. Ltd. at the Company. 

The balance of tax payables mainly relates to the payables deriving from previous years in respect of which the Company 
has taken steps to complete installment plans with the Revenue Agency, or with Equitalia.At the date of preparation of this 
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document, all installment plans are regular.In addition, it should be remembered that at December 31, 2019 the Company 
still has a tax credit of 1.9 million euros to be used, as in compensation starting from the year following the one in which it 
was recognized. 

The item payables to social security and social security institutions consists of contributions to be paid to INPS and INAIL 
for the closing year, as well as payables deriving from previous years; also in this case, the installment plans were 
perfected by recording the related provisions for interest and penalties in the financial statements. Finally, it is noted that 
the payments that are regular at the date of preparation of this document. 

The detail of other payable is below described: 

 

Details Amount  

Employees (salaries, holidays and permits) 1.007.056

Board 29.533

Others 1.396

Total Amount 1.037.985

Subdivision of payables by geographical area 

The following table shows the breakdown of debts by geographical area. 

Geographical 
partition 

Bond 
Payables to 

shareholders 
for loans 

Banks 
Other 

financiers
Advances

Trade 
payables 

Parent 
Company

Taxes 

Provident 
and social 
security 
institutions

Others 
Total 
Debts 

Italy 5.984.000 1.881.000 17.370.202 6.249.389 278.562 12.330.238 - 4.633.188 553.381 1.037.985 50.317.945

UE - - - - - 244.917 - - - - 244.917

Europe extra 
UE 

- - - - - - - - - - -

Rest of the 
world 

- - - - - 139.258 390.000 - - - 529.258

Total  5.984.000 1.881.000 17.370.202 6.249.389 278.562 12.714.413 390.000 4.633.188 553.381 1.037.985 51.092.120

Debts secured by collateral guarantees on company assets 

The following table, separately for each item, shows debts secured by collateral guarantees on company assets, with 
specific indication of the guarantees’ nature: 

 

 
Debts assisted by 

mortgages 
Debts secured by 

collateral 
Debts not  secured by 

collateral 
Total 

Bond  - - 5.984.000 5.984.000

Shareholders loan - - 1.881.000 1.881.000

Banks 2.400.000 2.400.000 14.970.202 17.370.202

Other financiers - - 6.249.389 6.249.389

Advances - - 278.562 278.562
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Debts assisted by 

mortgages 
Debts secured by 

collateral 
Debts not  secured by 

collateral 
Total 

Trade payables - - 12.714.413 12.714.413

Parent Company - - 390.000 390.000

Taxes - - 4.633.188 4.633.188

Provident and social security institutions - - 553.381 553.381

Others - - 1.037.985 1.037.985

Totale Payables 2.400.000 2.400.000 48.692.120 51.092.120

 

The corporate assets on which the first degree mortgage registrations are made in favor of the pool of banks, consisting of 
Intesa San Paolo SpA, Mediocredito Centrale SpA and Banco BPM SpA, are represented by 3 plants with annexed 
appurtenant land located in: 

1) Atella (PZ) - Vitalba Valley Industrial Zone snc. 

2) Atella (PZ) - Industrial Zone "Vitalba Valley" Cartofiche locality. 

3) Atella (PZ) - Industrial Area "Vitalba Valley" snc. 

The overall book value of these assets is 7,588 thousand euros. 

The mortgage contract expires on 04/12/2029. 

Loans made by of company’s shareholders 

In the year under review, the company received an interest-bearing loan from the Italian shareholders, in proportion to the 
percentage of participation in the share capital, in response to the shareholder financing proposal made by the 
administrative body of the shareholders' meeting of 4/11 / 2019 to better address the needs and the present financial needs 
of the Company, waiting to find the financial and subsidized resources under the Development Contract.It should also be 
noted that all members are entitled to reimbursement, which will take place once for each member no later than three years 
from the date of disbursement, unless further extension of the lender.The loans made by the shareholders, and entered 
under item D.3) of the balance sheet liabilities, were granted for the sole purpose of avoiding the more onerous recourse to 
other forms of financing external to the corporate structure. Therefore, for the same loans, the discipline of postponed 
loans pursuant to art. 2467 of the civil code. 

Accruals and deferred income 

Accrued liabilities and deferred income are recorded under liabilities for a total of 11,449k€ (8,870 k€ in the previous 
year). 

Accruals and deferrals have been calculated on the basis of the accrual principle, by allocating costs and/or revenues 
common to two financial years. 

The existence or permanence of the time condition has been verified in the registration as well as in the review of deferred 
income for a long term. Where this condition has changed, the appropriate changes have been made which are shown 
below. 

The composition and movements of each items are represented as follows: 

 
Value at the beginning of the 

period 
Variations during the period Value at the end of the period 

Accrued Expenses 36.381 (27.632) 8.749

Deferred Income 8.833.972 2.606.472 11.440.444
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Value at the beginning of the 

period 
Variations during the period Value at the end of the period 

Accrued Expenses and 
Deferred Income 

8.870.353 2.578.840 11.449.193

 

Accruals refer to accrued interest accruals. At the end of the year there are no accruals for a period of over five years. 

The deferrals are all related to the settlement of grants for plants and capital account. 

The change compared to last year is in part the absorption of the pertinent contribution quota and partly from the increase 
in the contribution and income deriving from tax credits recognized during the year but pertaining to future years. 

The following table shows the composition of these items, as they are recorded in the financial statements. 

Description Current fiscal year amount 

Interest 8.750

Deferred income Regione Basilicata 3.877.285

Deferred income Regione Campania 648.989

Deferred income bonus R&S dl 145/2013 367.314

Deferred income bonus SUD investiments 2.453.577

Deferred income Progetti R&D project 4.093.278

Tot 11.449.193

  

The five-year deferred income amounts to 4,140 thousand euros. 

Notes, income statement 

The income statement shows the economic result for the year. It provides a representation of management operations, by 
means of a summary of the positive and negative elements of income that contributed to determine the economic result. 
The positive and negative elements of income, recorded in the financial statements in accordance with article 2425-bis of 
the Italian Civil Code, are distinguished according to their belonging to the various managements: characteristic, ancillary 
and financial. 

The main characteristic identifies the income elements generated by transactions that occur continuously and in the 
relevant sector for the performance of operations, which identify and qualify the peculiar and distinctive part of the 
economic activity carried out by the company, for which the same is finalized. 

The financial asset consists in transactions generating financial income and expenses. 

Production value 

The value of production amounts to 40,763 thousand euros (39,678 thousand euros at the end of the previous year). 

Revenues from the sale of products and goods and / or from the provision of services relating to core operations for 32,037 
thousand euros (31,028 thousand euros last year) are recognized net of returns, discounts, rebates and bonuses, as well as 
directly related taxes with the sale of products and the provision of services. 
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The item changes in inventories of work in progress, semi-finished and finished products equal to an increase of 2,524 
thousand euros (increase 1,504 thousand euros at the end of the previous year) includes the quantitative changes in the 
final inventories compared to the initial ones. 

Item A4) increases in fixed assets for internal work includes capitalized costs that generated increases in the balance sheet 
assets in the intangible fixed assets items and relate to personnel costs involved in industrial development projects better 
described in the Report on operations in these financial statements of operation and construction of automated lines or 
interconnection systems in the context of projects launched by the "Automation Division" function of the Machining BU in 
order to develop solutions for process optimization through applied research and provide operational support to the units of 
CMD production, taking advantage of the Know-How that the same has developed, organized and monitored over the 
years, for a total of 3,119 thousand euros, compared to a value of 2,477 thousand euros last year. 

Item A5) other revenues and income includes the following cases: 

Detail 2019 2018 
Absolute 
variation 

 

Other operating incomes 38.837 0 38.837

Grants  1.656.018 1.159.987 496.031

Extraordinary income  156.817                           - 156.817

Rent 192.617 196.239 -3.621

Extraordinary income tax exception (Bonus R&D)                        - 26.256 -26.256

Bonus R&D  1.020.872 1.451.457 -430.585

Others 16.111 513.475 -497.364

Tot 3.081.272 3.347.413 -266.141

 

The contributions derive from the accounting according to the so-called indirect method recommended by the accounting 
principles of the OIC. 

Even for 2019 fiscal year, the Company has entrusted the ADVISOR OdR srls company, "Research entity" qualified ECC 
2014/C198/01 consulting, assistance and validation of the research and development activities in preparation for the 
reporting for the purposes of obtaining the R & D Bonus 145/2013 in relation to the costs incurred by the Company during 
the 2016 and 2017 financial years in carrying out the research activities, to which reference should be made in the 2018 
Management Report. 

The detail of income from the former extraordinary area of the income statement is shown below. 

Partition of revenues from sales and services by category of activity 

The following table shows the partition of revenues from sales and services according to the categories of activities: 

Activities Value at the current year 

Marine engines 1.797.531

Machining 27.841.440

Energy 2.178.161

Aviation 40.000

R&D 180.000
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Activities Value at the current year 

Tot 32.037.132

Partition of revenues from sales and services by geographical area 

The following table shows the breakdown of revenues from sales and services according to geographical area:         

Geographical Area  Value at the current year 

Italy 31.263.713

UE 479.529

Europe extraUE 2.785

Rest of the world 291.105

Total 32.037.132

Production costs 

Costs and charges are charged on an accrual basis and according to nature, net of returns, rebates, discounts and bonuses, 
in compliance with the principle of correlation with revenues, and recorded in the respective items in accordance with the 
provisions of the OIC 12 accounting standard. purchases of goods, the related costs are recorded when the substantial and 
non-formal passage of the title of ownership has occurred, taking the transfer of risks and benefits as the reference 
parameter for the substantial passage. In the case of the purchase of services, the related costs are recorded when the 
service has been received, or when the service has ended, while, in the presence of continuous services, the related costs 
are recorded for the accrued portion.Production costs amount to 38,750 thousand euros, compared to a value of 34,450 
thousand euros in the previous year.The costs for raw, ancillary and consumable materials amounted to € 19,563 thousand, 
compared to a value of the previous year of € 15,137 thousand. The increase derives from the increase in production 
volumes mainly due to the transition from the "work account" to the "full account" which occurred towards the end of the 
previous year in relation to the order for the cylinder heads, in addition to the increase in the production volumes of the 
division energy. Item B7 includes the costs deriving from the acquisition of services in the ordinary course of business and 
is mainly composed of the following items: 

 

Details 2019 2018 Var. (€) 
Var. 
(%) 

Industrial Services 606.995 929.574 -322.579 -35%

Energy 774.152 630.064 144.088 23%

Transportation 359.458 513.514 -154.056 -30%

Consulting Services 396.281 859.562 -463.281 -54%

Board 655.524 642.467 13.057 2%

Fee on temporary works services 184.240 194.406 -10.166 -5%

Commercial services 194.141 88.242 105.899 120%

Financial consulting 90.088 81.970 8.118 10%
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Details 2019 2018 Var. (€) 
Var. 
(%) 

Bank services 418.683 262.221 156.462 60%

Insurance 104.564 131.616 -27.052 -21%

Seconded staff 188.705 192.720 -4.015 -2%

Others 470.694 487.544 -16.850 -3%

Total amount 4.443.526 5.013.900 -570.374  

 

The decrease in costs in question derives from an efficiency improvement made by the Company regarding the ancillary 
services to production through the outsourcing of the Eco20 poduttio process.Item B8 includes the costs for the enjoyment 
of tangible and intangible third party assets for 429 thousand euros (515 thousand euros the previous year). The prevailing 
amount (207 thousand euros) refers to the leasing fees.Item B9, equal to 8,341 thousand euros (8,269 thousand euros last 
year), includes the costs incurred during the year for employees, including temporary work.In detail, under item B9a, 
wages and salaries are included, including the accrued and unpaid portions relating to additional monthly payments and 
holidays accrued and not enjoyed, gross of the withholding taxes and social security charges for the employee; under item 
B9b the charges borne by the company, net of the "taxed" amounts, under item B9c the provisions made in the period for 
the termination of employment, and finally under item B9d the provisions to supplementary pension funds other than TFR 
.Item B11 records an increase in the value of inventories of raw materials, subsidiaries, consumables and goods equal to 
699 thousand euros. Last year the negative change amounted to 421 thousand euros.The breakdown of item B14 other 
operating charges is as follows: 

  

Detalis 2019 2018 Var. (€) Var. (%) 

Import charges 1.956 103.475 -           101.518 -98%

Strd expenses 542.811 139.765 403.047 288%

Taxes  135.773 168.970 -             33.197 -20%

Contractual penalties 17.013 34.635 -             17.622 -51%

Membership fees 39.700 31.753 7.947 25%

Others 57.588 27.088 30.500 113%

Total amount             794.842               505.686            289.156  

Financial income and expenses 

Financial income and charges are recorded on an accruals basis according to portion accrued during the year. 

Investment income content 

There are no income from investments pursuant to art. 2425, n. 15 of the civil code. 
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Allocation of interest and other financial charges by type of payable 

The following table shows the interests and other financial charges pursuant to art. 2425, n. 17 of the Italian Civil Code, 
with specific subdivisions between those relating to bonds, bank debts and other cases. 

 Bond Banks Other Financial Debt Total Amount 

Interest and other financial charges 316.318 425.063 372.896 1.114.277

 

Amount and nature of the individual item of revenue / cost of exceptional entity or impact 

The following table shows the amount and nature of the each revenue items of exceptional entity or impact. 

Current year, deferred and anticipated income taxes 

The company proceeded to allocate taxes for the year on the basis of the application of the current tax regulations. Current 
taxes refer to taxes for the year as shown in the tax declarations; taxes relating to previous years include the direct taxes of 
previous years, inclusive of interest and penalties and also refer to the positive (or negative) difference between the amount 
due following the definition of a dispute or an assessment with respect to the value of the fund set aside in previous years. 
Lastly, deferred taxes and deferred taxes relate to positive or negative income components respectively subject to taxation 
or deduction in financial years other than those for statutory accounting. 

Taxes related to previous fiscal years 

Taxes related to the previous fiscal years mainly refer to penalties and interest attributable to the new installments of tax 
payables agreed during the year. 

Deferred and prepaid taxes 

This item includes the impact of deferred taxation on these financial statements. The same is due to the temporary 
differences between the values attributed to an asset or liability according to civil law criteria and the corresponding values 
recognized for such elements for tax purposes. 

The company determined deferred taxation with reference to IRES and IRAP. 

The deferred tax assets have been calculated using the following rates respectively: 

 

 

Aliquote Es.   n+1 Es.   n+2 Es.   n+3 Es.   n+4 Oltre 

IRES 24% 24% 24% 24% 24% 

 

In the following tables are analytically indicated: 

- a description of the temporary differences that led to the recognition of deferred and prepaid taxes, specifying the rate 
applied and the changes with respect to the previous year, the amounts credited or debited to the income statement or to 
shareholders' equity; 

- the amount of deferred tax assets recorded in the financial statements relating to losses for the year or previous years and 
the reasons for the registration, the amount not yet recorded and the reasons for the non-registration; 

- items excluded from the calculation and the related reasons. 
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Recognition of deferred and anticipated taxes and consequent effects 

 IRES IRAP 

A) Temporary differences 

Total deductible temporary differences 57.352 -

Total taxable temporary differences 1.966.269 -

Net temporary differences 1.908.917 -

B) Fiscal Effects 

Deffered (Advance) Tax Funf at begining of 
the period 

(519.927) (8.159)

Deffered (Advance) Tax during the period (458.140) -

Deffered (Advance) Tax Funf at the end of 
the period 

(978.067) (8.159)

 

Detail of deductible temporary differences 

Description 

Amount at the 
end of 

previous 
period 

Variations 
during the 

period 

Amount at the 
end of the 

period 
% IRES 

IRES Fiscal 
Effect 

% IRAP 
IRAP Fiscal 

effect 

IMU  51.344 29.974 81.318 24,00 19.516 - -

ACE  - 418.265 418.265 24,00 100.384 - -

IRES  - 1.487.548 1.487.548 24,00 357.012 - -

deliberate and 
unpaid 
remuneration 
CDA 

48.750 (32.500) 16.250 24,00 3.900 - -

Dedictible tax in 
the period 

14.596 14.232 28.828 24,00 6.919 - -

Previsions risks 
on credit and 
direct 
devaluation 

1.833.866 - 1.833.866 24,00 440.128 - -

Depreciation 
properties L. 
2/2009 

209.205 - 209.205 24,00 50.209 3,90 8.159

Informativa sulle perdite fiscali 

 
Ammontare (es. 

corrente) 
Aliquota fiscale 
(es. corrente) 

Imposte 
anticipate 

rilevate (es. 
corrente) 

Ammontare (es. 
precedente) 

Aliquota fiscale 
(es. precedente) 

Imposte 
anticipate 

rilevate (es. 
precedente) 

Tax losses   

in the period 1.487.548 -  
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Ammontare (es. 

corrente) 
Aliquota fiscale 
(es. corrente) 

Imposte 
anticipate 

rilevate (es. 
corrente) 

Ammontare (es. 
precedente) 

Aliquota fiscale 
(es. precedente) 

Imposte 
anticipate 

rilevate (es. 
precedente) 

tot 1.487.548 -  

Tax losses 
recoverable with 
reasonable 
certainty 

1.487.546 24,00 357.012 - - -

Deferred tax assets resulting from the tax loss realized in the tax period have been recorded. The registration took place 
due to the reasonable certainty of using according to the discipline contained in the T.U.I.R. in the next fiscal years, the 
loss to deduction of the expected taxable profits.When the tax loss emerged, the R&D contribution (Legislative Decree 
145/2013) and the consequent benefit to the patent box (Law 190/2014) had a decisive impact. In this regard, it should be 
noted that, making specific reference to Circ. 11 / E of 7 April 2016 (par. 4.1.5), the intangible "know how" of the 
Automotive sector identified above can be defined as the technological ability to engineer and design the entire production 
process (including if necessary the appropriate lines production) of the "engine" product, including related testing and 
prototyping. This intangible is held originally, as the result of the gradual evolution of the company for over thirty years, 
and is continuously powered, maintained and developed by significant and constant expenses for studies and research as 
well as by the commitment of the Automation Division. Much of the information - and specifically that concerning the 
design and construction of the robotic islands - is currently incorporated into software programs already secreted and for 
which the Company is also in the process of requesting and obtaining suitable legal protection.For these reasons, the 
Company, during the 2019 financial year, as a result of art. 4 of Legislative Decree April 30, 2019, n.34 (so-called Growth 
Decree), having presented at the end of the 2018 financial year the application for ruling, at the time mandatory in order to 
opt for the Patent Box, decided to "self-liquidate" the facilitation in question after having appropriately: a) communicated 
to the Revenue Agency the express waiver of the application for ruling submitted at the time; b) communicated to the 
Revenue Agency the preparation and possession of a documentary kit containing the information necessary for the 
aforementioned self-assessment. 

The following scheme summarizes the reconciliation between the applicable tax rate and the effective average tax rate: 

 

 IRES IRAP 

RESULT BEFORE TAXES 205.087 

Theoretical Ires rate (%) 24,00 

IRES Amount 49.221 

IRAP Book Values balance  10.354.124

Irap rate (%)  4,97

IRAP Amount  514.600

Taxable temporary differences   

- Increases - -

- Use - -

- Escluted - -

Total taxable temporary differences - -

Deductible temporary differences  
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 IRES IRAP 

- Increases 60.456 -

- Use 57.353 -

- Escluted - -

Total Deductible temporary differences 3.103 -

Increasing permanent var. 1.590.702 1.315.738

Decreasing permanent var. 3.256.466 2.755.993

Total taxable 1.457.574- 8.913.869

Using losses previous periods - 

IRES others var. - 

Minumun taxable value - -

Deduction  ACE/Start-up - -

IRAP other relevant deductions  6.483.469

Total fiscal taxable 1.457.574- 2.430.400

Total current income taxes - 120.791

Deduction - 

Net tax - -

Effective rate (%) - 1,17

 

Notes, cash flow statement  

The company has prepared a cash flow statement which represents the summary document including the changes occurred 
during the year in the company assets with changes in the financial situation; it highlights the values of the financial 
resources that the company needed during the financial year as well as the relative uses. 

Regarding the used method, it is specified that the same has adopted, according to the provisions of the OIC 10, the 
indirect method according to which the flow of liquidity is reconstructed by adjusting the result for the year of non-
monetary components. 

Notes to the financial statements, other informations 

Following are other informations required by the Civil Code. 
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Employment data 

The following table indicates the average number of employees, subdivided according to category and calculated 
according the daily average: 

 Senior management Employees Workers Total staff 

Average number 11 41 98 150

 

The change in the number of employees highlighted compared to the previous year is widely described in the Management 
Report for the 2018 Financial Statements. 

Remunerations, down payments and receivables granted to directors and statutory 
auditors and commitments undertaken on their behalf 

The following table shows the information required by art. 2427 n. 16 of the Civil Code, stating that there are no advances 
and receivables and no commitments have been made on behalf of the administrative body due to guarantees of any kind 
provided. 

 Managers Auditors 

Remuneration 498.000 17.500

Fees to the statutory auditor or auditing company 

The following table shows the fees due to the auditing company, subdivided by type of services provided: 

 Legal Annual Audit 
Compensation to the statutory auditor or 

auditing company 

Value 31.000 31.000

Categories of shares issued by the company 

The following table shows the number and the nominal value of the company's shares, as well as any movements that 
occurred during the year. 

 
Initial Stock, 

Number 
Initial Stock, 
Face Value 

Shares 
subscribed in the 
period, number 

Shares 
subscribed in the 

period, Face 
Value 

Final Stock, 
Number 

Final Stock, Face 
Value 

Common stock 16.829.887 1 16.829.887 1 16.829.887 1

 

Bonds issued by the company 
The company has not issued any bond or similar value including in the provision pursuant to art. 2427 n. 18 of the civil 
code. 

 

Details on other financial instruments issued by the company 
The company has not issued other financial instruments pursuant to Article 2346, paragraph 6, of the Italian Civil Code. 
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Commitments, guarantees and potential liabilities not shown on the assets and liabilities 
The commitments deriving from the existing leasing contracts should be noted, including the option for exercising the 
right of redemption.The temporal articulation of the commitments shown in the table is as follows:• installments due 
within the following year 210 thousand euros;• installments due beyond the next financial year 1,559 thousand euros (of 
which over five years 1,215 thousand euros. 

 amount 

Commitments 1.769.013

 

 

Information on assets and financing for a specific business 
Assets dedicated to a specific deal 

We hereby certify that at the closing date of the financial statements there are no assets for a specific business as per No. 
20 of the art. 2427 of the civil code. 

Grants for a specific deal 

We hereby certify that at the closing date of the financial statements there are no loans for a specific business as per no. 21 
of the art. 2427 of the civil code. 

 Information on transactions with related parties 

During the year, transactions with related parties were carried out; these are transactions closed at market conditions, 
therefore, according to current legislation, no additional information is provided. 

Information on agreements not included in assets and liabilities 

During the year no agreements were entered into assest and liabilities. 

Information on significant events occurring after the end of the financial year 

With reference to point 22-quater of art. 2427 of the civil code, the following should be noted.As a result of the stipulation 
of the aforementioned latest loan agreements, the Company has extinguished the previous Interest Rate Swap contract re-
modulated on 04/08/2016 with Banca Popolare di Ancona to hedge the interest risk associated with its debt, in order to 
stipulate two more, again to cover the interest risk connected, however, to the new 50% pool debt with Intesa Sam Paolo 
and Banco BPM above. The signing of these new derivative contracts was made on 10/02/2020 with both institutions, with 
a notional value of 1,200 thousand euros each, in line with the underlying pooled transaction with a total value of 2,400 
thousand euros maturing in 04. / 12/2029. The bank parameter is the 3-month Euribor, the customer parameter is 0.0390%. 
This instrument has been designated as a hedging financial instrument (in accordance with the indications provided by OIC 
32 - Derivative financial instruments. Since the stipulation was concluded on 10/02/2020, any fair value of the derivative 
instrument will be recognized, as per the accounting standards indicated above, in a specific equity reserve (under item 
AVII "Reserve for hedging operations of expected cash flows") whose balance sheet entry will be a provision for risks in 
B 3 "derivative financial instruments" of the same amount, if the mark to market at the end of the year 2020 will have a 
negative value; the balance sheet entry of the aforementioned reserve will be among the "Financial fixed assets" in item B) 
III 4) derivative financial instruments active, if the mark to market at the end 2020 will have a positive value.On 5 
December 2019, the Company received 1,881 thousand euros from shareholders in the loan account. This amount is equal 
to the share paid, in proportion to the percentages of participation in the share capital, by the shareholders Mariano and 
Giorgio Negri in response to the shareholder loan proposal made by the CEO during the shareholders' meeting of 
4/11/2019 to better address the needs and the present financial needs of the Company, pending the finding of subsidized 
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and non-refundable financial resources under the Development Contract. It should also be noted that all members are 
entitled to reimbursement, which will take place once for each member no later than three years from the date of 
disbursement, unless further extension of the lender.In this regard, it should also be noted that on 11 February 2020, the 
Company also collected 3,750 thousand euros in the loan account from the majority shareholder Loncin Motor Co. Ltd. 
This amount was loaned to the Company under the same conditions recognized to the other two shareholders and always in 
proportion to the percentage of participation in the share capital of Loncin Motor Co. Ltd.. 

Companies that draw up the financial statements of larger/smaller companies of which it 
is a subsidiary 

Referred to art. 2497-bis c. 4 of the civil code, we certify that the company is not subject to the direction and coordination 
of others. 

Information relating to financial derivative instruments ex art. 2427-bis of the Civil Code 

In compliance with the provisions of art. 2727-bis of the c.c. in relation to derivative financial instruments, it should be 
noted that the Interest Rate Swap contract with a maturity of 2026 is in progress, revised on 4 August 2016 with Banca 
Popolare di Ancona to hedge the risk of changes in interest rates in relation to the mortgage loan in pool of 8,481 k€. The 
notional amount identified has the equal amount and the bank parameter is Euribor 3 months, the customer parameter is 
2.94%. 

The mark to market at 31 December 2018 is equal to Euro - 376.899. 

Information ex art. 1, comma 125, regulation dated 4 August 2017 n. 124 

Referring to the provisions of art. 1, paragraph 125, of regulation no124/2017, with regard to the obligation to provide 
evidence in the supplementary note of any sums of money received in the year as grants, contributions, paid jobs and in 
any case economic advantages of any kind from public administrations and by the persons referred to in paragraph 125 of 
the same article, the Company certifies that during 2018 it obtained settlement and compensation decrees, i.e. use of tax 
credits, of the net sums shown in the table below. 

DESCRIPTION AMOUNT (EURO) 

Grant M.I.S.E. progetto PIACE 193.556 

Grant REGIONE BASILICATA - AVVISO PUBBLICO 
EX CUTOLO MICHELE E FIGLI DI ATELLA - CUP - 
G92C14000170001 

1.629.264 

Proposal to allocate profits or to cover losses 

Dear Shareholders, in light of what mentioned above, the administrative body proposes to allocate the profit for the year as 
follows: 

• € 27,869 to the legal reserve;

• € 529,519 to the extraordinary reserve
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Management Report 
Financial Statements 31/12/2019 

Dear Shareholders, information regarding the company balance sheet as at 31/12/2019 has been given 
in Notes to Financial Statements; in this document, in accordance with art. 2428 of the Civil Code, we 
provide you with information related to the situation of your company and information on 
management trend. This report has been drafted with all values in Euros. It is a support to the financial 
statements to provide in income, assets, financial and management information also including 
historical details to aid assessments where possible.   

Company’s informations 

As you know, our company works in the mechanical engineering sector and is worldwide recognized 
as a leader in the development of high-tech diesel and gasoline engines, as well as the related 
components. 
 Company’s business core is the ability to develop innovative products starting from a simple design, 
giving customer right support in all phases of product development and providing quick and reliable 
solution: from design to testing, to all is linked to series production. 
Our company works in engineering, production and marketing services through the following 
Business Units: 
• BU Machining: main company's core business, supported above all by success in the Industrial and

Automotive sectors.
• BU Marine Engines: the company develops and manufactures engines for the marine sector
distributed through the FNM brand. 
• BU Research & Development - Aviation: this BU represents the fulcrum of the research and
development of new projects related to the engines’ design and construction, also for the Aviation and 
Residential Heating segments; the production of equipment in these last two market segments has not 
yet had an impact in terms of turnover, but it represents an important factor for potential growth. 
• BU Energy: this BU represents the new frontier of the company's development in the energy sector
in which, over the years, it has expressed its full interest and potential by combining ideas, engine 
know-how and great flexibility in adapting their knowledge of the needs arising, creating a truly broad 
market perspective. 
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The five strategic business areas are shown in the diagram below: 
 

 
 The abovementioned areas, shared according to a divisional structure, are coordinated by the general 
management, supported by the administrative and financial area. 

Relevant facts 

Here are some facts of particular importance that we deem useful to highlight for your attention. 
 
Financial year closed shows a profit equal to Euro 557 thousand. 
 
During this financial year, Company made investments for over 10.5 million euro, of which 6.4 
million euro only in research and development and 4.1 in the purchase of mainly industrial machinery 
and equipment with the long-term purpose to increase the production capacity of the company, in 
relation to which investments a large contribution to future profitability is expected, within the 
fulfillment of the ongoing Industrial Development Program (hereinafter also the "Development 
Contract"), approved on 26/06/2018 by Invitalia for an amount of € 36.8 million, divided into a 
Production Investment Project (for € 21.3 million) and a Research and Development Project (for € 
13.9 million ) located in Basilicata, aimed at creating business strategies. 
 
The allowable benefits amount to a total of 13.7 million euros, of which 5.2 million euros related to 
the industrial project as a non-refundable contribution, 3 million euros as a subsidized loan and 5.5 
million euros related to the research and development project as a contribution to the expenditure. 
 
We remind that the CMD began the certification process of the second aviation engine (GF56) in 
January 2019 with the presentation of the application, held, at its headquarters in Caserta, the Kick off 
meeting with the EASA Program Certification Manager (the European aeronautical certification 
authority) and the conclusion of the "SOI-1" (Stage of Involvement) relating to the construction of the 
FADEC GF56 engine. 
 
At the end of 2019, however, the Company obtained the Design Organization approval certificate 
(EASA 21J.709) from EASA (the European aeronautical certification authority), valid for both 
aviation engine projects. Prestigious result given that it places CMD as the second Italian company to 
hold an approval from its organization with the aim of designing aircraft engines and the sixth in 
Europe. 
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During the year 2020, the "test article" is expected to be created with the consequent start of 
certification tests, according to the EASA CS-E regulation. 
 
Furthermore, the year 2019 was a year of great news also for the marine sector. Thanks to continuous 
investments in research and development activities, the Company has introduced the Blue Hybrid 
System, a mechatronic marine propulsion system, entirely designed by CMD, which allows you to 
navigate protected areas with zero emissions and noiseless. 
 
The BHS is considered an innovative project as, to date, it is the only system capable of offering total 
integration with any type of boat and endothermic marine engine. 
 
A very important event for CMD was the presentation in Venice of the water taxi on which the 
innovative technology was installed, as shown below. After more than a year of testing, the BHS has 
received technical approval, with direct home warranty, for coupling to Volvo Penta engines, 
application and service managed by VIO, a company to which CMD has entrusted the exclusive 
distribution of the product. The city of Venice, enchanted by the project, is awaiting approval by the 
government of a particular legislation presented in parliament that requires the special green light for 
hybrid boats in the lagoon. 
 
With the same configuration, CMD is working to respond to other versions of the aforementioned 
system so that it can be used on different types of boats. In fact, the demand on the BHS market has 
definitely increased: the data confirm that there has been greater attention to the environment. 
Pollution is a problem that is not underestimated today and the marine environment is one of the most 
compromised ecosystems. 
 
In March 2019, AS LABRUNA officially became the exclusive distributor on Italian territory of the 
brand of the BU of marine engines, FNM. Considering the long experience and great professionalism 
of AS LABRUNA, a company born in Monopoli specialized in the production and marketing of 
marine engines, in fact, CMD has decided to entrust him with the exclusive distribution of the entire 
range of FNM brand products. Thanks to this agreement, the two companies will have the opportunity 
to expand their sales network by giving greater visibility to their brands. 
 
Finally, in November 2019, FNM entered into an agreement with Junker Marine which became our 
distributor for Norway. The agreement was signed during METS 2019 in Amsterdam, the largest trade 
fair in the world for marine equipment and systems. 
 
In order to pursue all its projects, the core business and the aforementioned plan for productive 
investments and research and development related to the Development Contract, within which, at the 
stage of progress, the Facilitated Loan and the Funds will be disbursed, which will allow it to develop 
the Avio business unit, ensuring an appropriate differentiation and an increasingly international 
opening of its business, the Company has provided itself with the financial resources indicated below. 
 
On March 28, 2019, the Company collected a further 3,040 thousand euros following the issue of new 
bonds (n. 38 fixed rate non-convertible bonds with a nominal value of 80 thousand each.). The total 
nominal amount of the Loan amounts to € 7,040 thousand. 
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The securities were subscribed by AMUNDI (formerly Pioneer) and are listed on the ExtraMOT Pro3 
market managed by Borsa Italiana SpA. 
 
Minibond, we remember, which is of the amortising type with 42 months of pre-amortization (instead 
of the previous 36 months); repayment in 4 increasing annual installments starting from 31/12/2018, 
with the payment of the first installment of Euro 1,000 thousand plus interest. 
Following the AMUNDI resolution of 7 March 2019, the remaining 3 Redemption Installments 
starting from 31 December 2019 up to the expiry date (included) have been modified as indicated in 
the following table: 
 

DEADLINE /AMOUNT 
12/31/2019 1,056 thousand euros 
12/31/2020 1,584 thousand euros 
12/31/2021 4,400 thousand euros 

 
In this regard, it should be noted that on 31/12/2019 the payment of the second installment falling due 
of Euro 1,056 thousand was made plus interest. Therefore, the overall nominal amount of the Loan, at 
31 December 2019, is equal to approximately 5,984 thousand euros. 
 
At 31/12/2019 the two financial covenants were respected: 

a. Net Financial Debt / Net Equity; 
b. Net Financial Debt / EBITDA. 

 
On 28 June 2019 the Company entered into a loan agreement with Banca Progetto SpA for a total 
amount of 1 million euro, at a nominal annual rate of 5.50%, with a duration of 36 months with 
monthly repayment starting from 31/07/2019. In this regard, it should be noted that on 31/12/2019 all 
payments are in line with the amortization plan of the loan. 
 
On December 4, 2019 the Company signed two loan agreements: 
- "Capex Line" loan agreement; 
- "R&D Line" loan agreement. 
 
The first contract was signed between the Company and a pool of banks, Intesa Sanpaolo SpA, 
Mediocredito Centrale SpA and Banco BPM SpA, SACE as guarantor of the operation and Banca IMI 
as agent bank. The loan has the characteristics of a long-term credit line (Capex) for a total maximum 
amount not exceeding € 7,064,961, to be repaid in quarterly installments starting from 31/12/2022 at 
the rate of 2.85% + Euribor at 3 months. As of the date of this document, 2,400 thousand euros have 
already been disbursed, the remaining part will be disbursed following the reports submitted under the 
Development Contract. 
 
The second contract was signed between the Company and Intesa Sanpaolo (Equiter) in order to grant 
the Company a loan from the EIB / MIUR Research and Innovation Fund to be used for carrying out 
the research and development project, for a maximum total amount not exceeding € 8,397,872, to be 
repaid in quarterly installments starting from 31/12/2021, at the nominal annual fixed rate of 0.67%. 
 
Also for these two loans, two financial covenants are recognized at the end of each year: 
- Net Financial Debt / Net Equity; 
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- Net Financial Debt / EBITDA. 
 
It should be noted that the Company at 31/12/2019 respects both covenants. 
 
Following the signing of the last loan agreements, the Company has extinguished the previous Interest 
Rate Swap contract, re-modulated on 04/08/2016 with Banca Popolare di Ancona to hedge the interest 
risk associated with its debt, in order to stipulate two more, again to cover the interest risk connected, 
however, to the new 50% pool debt with Intesa Sam Paolo and Banco BPM above. The signing of 
these new derivative contracts was made on 10/02/2020 with both institutions, with a notional value of 
1,200 thousand euros each, in line with the underlying pooled transaction with a total value of 2,400 
thousand euros maturing in 04. / 12/2029. The bank parameter is the 3-month Euribor, the customer 
parameter is 0.0390%. This instrument has been designated as a hedging financial instrument 
(pursuant to the indications provided by OIC 32 - Derivative financial instruments. Since the 
stipulation was concluded on 10/02/2020, any fair value of the derivative instrument will be 
recognized, as per the accounting standards indicated above, in a specific equity reserve (under item 
AVII "Reserve for hedging operations of expected cash flows") whose balance sheet entry will be a 
provision for risks in B 3 "derivative financial instruments" of the same amount, if the mark to market 
at the end of the 2020 financial year has a negative value; the balance sheet of the aforementioned 
reserve will be among the "Financial fixed assets" in item B) III 4) derivative financial instruments 
active, if the mark to market at the end 2020 will have a positive value. 
 
On 5 December 2019, the Company received 1,881 thousand euros from shareholders in the loan 
account. This amount is equal to the share paid, in proportion to the percentages of participation in the 
share capital, by the shareholders Mariano and Giorgio Negri in response to the shareholder financing 
proposal put forward by the CEO during the shareholders' meeting of 4/11/2019 for better to address 
the needs and the present financial needs of the Company, pending the finding of subsidized and non-
refundable financial resources under the Development Contract. It should also be noted that all 
members are entitled to reimbursement, which will take place once for each member no later than 
three years from the date of disbursement, unless further extension of the lender. 
 
In this regard, it should also be noted that on 11 February 2020, the Company also collected 3,750 
thousand euros in the loan account from the majority shareholder Loncin Motor Co. Ltd. This amount 
was loaned to the Company under the same conditions recognized to the other two partners and 
always in proportion to the percentage of participation in the share capital of Loncin Motor Co. Ltd. 
 
It should also be noted that as of the date of this report, all the installment plans for tax payables are 
regular. 
To complete the foregoing, we remind you that at December 31, 2019 the Company still has a tax 
credit of 1.9 million euros to be used in compensation in the year following the one in which it was 
recognized. In fact, also this year, the company has entrusted the task of ADVISOR OdR srls, a 
"Research Organization" qualified ECC 2014 / C198 / 01 for consulting, assistance and validation of 
the Research and Development activities in preparation for reporting for the purposes of obtaining the 
R&D Bonus of 145/2013 in relation to the costs incurred by the Company in carrying out the applied 
research activities indicated below. 
 
We also recall that the Company, starting from 2015, is subject to public rating by the Cerved Rating 
Agency. On 04/04/2019 Cerved confirmed the B 1.2 rating. 
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It should also be noted that the implementation of the Organization, Management and Control Model 
pursuant to Legislative Decree is in progress 231/2001, being implemented. 
 
Finally, it should be noted that the Company, during the 2019 financial year, as a result of art 4 of 
Legislative Decree April 30, 2019, n.34 (so-called Growth Decree), having presented at the end of the 
2018 financial year the application for ruling, at the time mandatory in order to opt for the Patent Box 
(L. 190/2014), decided to "self-liquidate" the subsidy in question after having appropriately: a) 
communicated to the Revenue Agency the express waiver of the ruling application previously 
presented; b) communicated to the Revenue Agency the preparation and possession of a documentary 
kit, relating to the machining BU, containing the information necessary for the aforementioned self-
assessment. In this regard, it should be noted that, making specific reference to Circ. 11 / E of 7 April 
2016 (par. 4.1.5), the intangible "know how" of BU machining is represented by the technological 
ability to engineer and design the entire production process (including, if necessary, the appropriate 
production lines) of the "motor" product, including the related testing and prototyping, as better 
represented below. This intangible is held originally, as the result of the gradual evolution of the 
company for over thirty years, and is continuously powered, maintained and developed by significant 
and constant expenses for studies and research as well as by the commitment of the Automation 
Division. Much of the information - and specifically that concerning the design and construction of 
the robotic islands - is currently incorporated into software programs already secreted and for which 
the Company is also in the process of requesting and obtaining suitable legal protection. Of course, 
being able to fully develop these crucial design and production preparation segments "in house" has 
allowed the achievement of the significant margins that can be seen from the balance sheet analysis. 
 
Finally, it should be noted that 2019 was a year full of events for the Company which organized and 
participated in various institutional meetings, sector fairs and events organized in collaboration with 
important universities. In April, for example, the Company participated with great success at the 
AERO in Friedrichshafen, an exhibition event in the aviation sector, presenting the CMD22 and the 
GF56; while the month of May was entirely dedicated to recruiting. CMD, in fact, meets 
undergraduates and graduates from important universities every year, including the University of 
Salerno and Federico II of Naples, for collaborative purposes. In order to promote the placing on the 
market and the activities of the BU energy, in September an important conference was organized in 
collaboration with Confindustria Basilicata and with the patronage of various professional 
associations, entitled "Circular Economy: biomass for 'energy of the future ”, achieving great results. 
During the event an ECO20x demo was put into operation. In October CMD organized, in 
collaboration with Bosch Rexroth, a meeting on Automation which was attended by Prof. Salvatore 
Antonio De Biasio, Vice President of Confindustria Basilicata and Dr. Antonio Braia, in addition to 
important industry representatives. President of the Lucan Automotive Cluster. Finally, November. 
month of fairs for the Energy sector: from 5 to 10 November 2019, CMD took part in the China 
International Import Expo (CIIE) in Shanghai, the fair organized by the Chinese Ministry of 
Commerce and the Government of the Municipality of Shanghai and developed with the support from 
the World Trade Organization, from the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development and 
from the United Nations Industrial Development Organization; and from 5 to 8 November 2019 CMD 
returned to exhibit at KEY ENERGY, the most important Italian fair on renewable energy. The 
undisputed star of the ECO20x. 
Finally, December is a month full of satisfactions for the marine sector, as indicated above, which 
after a long period of work and several agreements, in collaboration with the company eng. Ruggero 
VIO of Venice and the San Pietro di Castello shipyard developed a version of BHS specific for the 
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Venetian Lagoon: on December 21, 2019 the first water taxi with hybrid technology was presented in 
Venice, in the presence of Mayor Brugnaro. 
The organization and participation in these events allowed CMD, in the year 2019, to get in touch with 
important companies in the sector and beyond, thus expanding its network of knowledge that gave rise 
to fruitful collaborations. Participation in fairs, especially foreign ones, has allowed CMD to expand 
its sales base and has brought numerous new potential customers. The collaboration with the 
universities has allowed CMD to discover new young graduates, with particular attention to the talents 
of Southern Italy. 

P&L and financial position 

In order to better understand the company's P&L and financial position, a reclassification statement of 
the balance sheet is below provided below: 

Assets 

Items Year 2019 % Year 2018 % Variation (€) Variation. % 

WORKING CAPITAL 55.436.567 52,82% 46.828.735 51,33% 8.607.832 18,38%

Liquid Asset 14.911.354 14,21% 3.117.290 3,42% 11.794.064 378,34%

cash 14.911.354 14,21% 3.117.290 3,42% 11.794.064 378,34%

Deferred liquidity 23.763.279 22,64% 32.806.763 35,96% -9.043.484 -27,57%

Receivables from shareholders        

Current Recevable (within 12 months) 22.593.476 21,53% 31.894.259 34,96% -9.300.783 -29,16%

Fixed receivables  (within 12 months)         

Fixed Assets for sale        

Financial Assets        

Prepaied Expenses and Accrued Income 1.169.803 1,11% 912.504 1,00% 257.299 28,20%

Inventories 16.761.934 15,97% 10.904.682 11,95% 5.857.252 53,71%

Fixed Assets 49.512.652 47,18% 44.396.386 48,67% 5.116.266 11,52%

 Intangible fixed assets 9.063.372 8,64% 6.151.384 6,74% 2.911.988 47,34%

Tangible fixed assets 39.417.615 37,56% 37.671.477 41,30% 1.746.138 4,64%

Financial fixed assets 45.439 0,04% 45.439 0,05%   

Fixed receivables  (after 12 months)  986.226 0,94% 528.086 0,58% 458.140 86,75%

Total Assets 104.949.219 100,00% 91.225.121 100,00% 13.724.098 15,04%

Liabilities 

Items Year 2019 % Year 2018 % Variation (€) 
Variation. 

% 

LIABILITIES  62.948.214 59,98% 50.158.408 54,98% 12.789.806 25,50%

Current Liabilities 39.922.239 38,04% 36.179.833 39,66% 3.742.406 10,34%

Short terms debts (within 12 
months) 

28.473.046 27,13% 27.309.480 29,94% 1.163.566 4,26%
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Accrued Expenses and 
Deferred Income 

11.449.193 10,91% 8.870.353 9,72% 2.578.840 29,07%

Consolidated Liabilities 23.025.975 21,94% 13.978.575 15,32% 9.047.400 64,72%

Long terms Debts  (after 12 
months)  

22.619.074 21,55% 13.172.680 14,44% 9.446.394 71,71%

Funds for risk and charges    376.899 0,41% -376.899 -100,00%

 Fund for employee 
termination indemnity 

406.901 0,39% 428.996 0,47% -22.095 -5,15%

EQUITY 42.001.005 40,02% 41.066.713 45,02% 934.292 2,28%

Share capital 16.829.887 16,04% 16.829.887 18,45%   

Reserves 24.613.730 23,45% 22.002.408 24,12% 2.611.322 11,87%

Retained earnings 
(accumulated deficit) 

        

 Net income (loss) for the 
accounting period 

557.388 0,53% 2.234.418 2,45% -1.677.030 -75,05%

          

Total Liabilities and 
Shareholders' Equity 

104.949.219 100,00% 91.225.121 100,00% 13.724.098 15,04%

P&L and financial position’s main indicators 

According previous reclassification, following indicators are below calculated: 
 

Ratios Year 2019 Year 2018 Variation. % 

Coverage of fixed assets 86,55% 93,61% -7,54%

Banks on Working Capital 22,16% 19,87% 11,51%

Debt ratio 1,30 1,14 13,44%

Leverage 0,678 0,470 44,24%

Equity on Total Assets 40,02% 45,02% -11,10%

Financial Interest on Sales 3,48% 4,12% -15,53%

Total Current Assets on Current Liabilities 138,86% 129,43% 7,28%

Fixed Assets Margin (I Level) -        6.525.421 -        2.801.587  132,92%

Indice di copertura primario                      0,8                      0,9  -9,01%

Fixed Assets Margin (II Level)        16.500.554        11.176.988  47,63%

Indice di copertura secondario 1,34 1,25 6,79%

Net Working Capital        15.514.328        10.648.902  45,69%

Treasury Margin ( I Level) -        1.247.606 -           255.780  387,77%

Acid Test   96,87% 99,29% -2,44%
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Financial overview 
 
To better understand the result of the management of the company, a reclassification statement of the 
P&L Account is provided below. 

P&L Account 
€/000  

 

INCOME STATEMENT 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

REVENUES 28.505 29.418 32.558 32.349 32.037 

% -30,29% 3,2% 10,7% -0,6% -1,0% 

TURNOVER 31.369 32.752 41.638 39.678 40.763 

Growth (%) -22,96% 4,4% 27,1% -4,7% 2,7% 

EBITDA 8.330 10.233 9.908 9.816 7.890 

Ebitda (%) 26,55% 31,25% 23,8% 24,7% 19,4% 

EBIT 3.018 6.644 5.868 5.228 2.013 

Ebit (%) 9,62% 20,29% 14,1% 13,2% 4,9% 

NET PROFIT 1.944 3.059 3.006 2.234 557 

Net profit (%) 6,20% 9,34% 7,2% 5,6% 1,4% 

 
The item of the income statement A5 "other revenues and income", until the previous year included 
the income statement item "Other revenues", which included non-production revenues, shown directly 
in the income statement item A1 "Revenues from sales and of services ", but directly related to the 
main production orders or to the Company's core business. Therefore, at 31 December 2019, it was 
decided to include this type of revenue directly in item A1 "Revenues from sales and services" (OIC 
accounting principle 29). 

Financial overview’s main indicators 

According previous reclassification, main financial statements’ indicators are below calculated: 
 

Ratios Year 2019 Year 2018 Variation. % 

R.O.E. (Return On Equity) 1,33% 5,4% -75,62% 

R.O.I. (Return On Investments) 2,31% 6,4% -64,08% 

R.O.S. (Return On Sales) 6,28% (*)16,2% -61,12% 

R.O.A. (return On Assets) 4,15% 11,80% -64,85% 

(*) the difference with the 2018 financial statements is due to the reclassification made in 2019, as previously indicated. 

Information ex art 2428 C.C. 

Analysis of information specifically required by the provisions of article 2428 of the Civil Code 
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Main risks and uncertainties to which Company is exposed 

 
As required by the first paragraph of art. 2428 of the Civil Code, below is a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties to which the company is exposed. 
 
There are no significant internal control system deficiencies in this respect. The Company is equipped 
with a tried and tested internal control system regarding technical procedures and administrative 
provisions. Added to this is the high level of employee experience in control and recruitment that aid 
higher management in making relevant decisions. 
 
Furthermore, the company is currently developing and implementing the Organization, Management 
and Control Model as per Law Decree 231/2001.  
 
Also Consider also that Company’s Quality System is implemented according to all operating 
instructions based on ISO / TS 16949:2002 rules. 
 
In order to protect the company and respect the working environment, CMD S.p.A. has created an 
Environmental Management System and a Quality Management System. Company obtained the ISO 
14001 environmental certification, and in addition, the company is ISO9100:2009 certified for the 
design and production of aeronautical components. 
 
There are no significant external risks arising from the socio-economic and geo-political situation. 
 
There are no significant external risks arising from the regulatory situation. 
 
Unique risks of this kind arise from the competitive dynamics related to the market in which the 
company operates. The company performance data in terms of turnover and profitability, over thirty 
years specific experience in the field and its collocation in the reference market testify to its 
competitiveness and the high quality and effectiveness of its management.  
 
Finally, as regards financial risk, the company has up to now been able to cover all third party 
commitments through ample recourse to banking channels and by paying national insurance and tax 
debts by instalments. Credit risks are not particularly significant when solvency related the customer 
portfolio and recourse factoring are considered. Derivative instruments are also used to hedge tax 
risks. 

Main non-financial indicators 

Pursuant to the second paragraph of the art. 2428 of the Civil Code, we certify that, due to the specific 
activity carried out and for a better understanding of the company's situation, the performance and the 
result of operations, the exposure of non-financial indicators is not considered relevant. 

Environment information 

In line with the commitment to pursue continuous improvement, environmental performances of 
C.M.D. S.p.A have recently achieved levels of excellence, also thanks to the application of 
organizational models based on the application of certified management systems as required by the 
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UNI EN ISO 14001 standards, the use of the best available technologies and the continuous use of 
training activities and awareness of employees and external companies. 
 
Since 2013, a process has been started with the aim of improving the process of collecting the data and 
information necessary for Annual Sustainability Reports. To date, the Company continues along this 
path, recording continuous improvements. 
 
Concerning atmospheric emissions, as provided by the new PRG Management Determine. G 
20154/2017 - U 19/05/2017 for the 9 flue gas chimneys, whose results are within the limits set and 
approved with the DGR n ° 3340/99, 670/01, 1504/15 and D.Lgs 152 / 2006. 
 
Each II quarter, company analyzes the waste water of the sewage system of the plants as required by 
Legislative Decree 152/2006, from which no parameters beyond the allowed limits have emerged. 
 
Sampling and analysis of work environments are carried out every six months to detect the fogs and 
fine dust present, as required by Legislative Decree 152/2006. 
 
We continue with the use of the electronic waste tracking system (SISTRI) as required by the Ministry 
for the Environment and for the Protection of the Territory and the Sea. 
 
In 2019 we continue with the separate waste collection through a careful selection of paper, plastic, 
iron, aluminum and wood has been attested to the already excellent 2018, that is equal to 93% of 
waste produced by the company. 
 
During the year there were no environmental damages for which the Company has received definitive 
sanctions for environmental crimes or damage and even less has been definitively sentenced. 
In fact, the Company is able to prevent and anticipate future problems and needs and is able to manage 
changes. From an environmental point of view, this means deciding to progressively minimize the 
impact on the environment: it is the concept of continuous environmental improvement. 
To achieve this target, company introduced: 
• clean technologies, i.e. with a reduced environmental impact compared to those usually used for the 
same purpose; 
• energy saving; 
• energy supply from renewable sources; 
• recovery of production waste; 
• changes to the packaging (packaging material) to make it less impactful, for example by reducing the 
weight of packaging and using reusable ones. 
 
The Company, in order to improve the working environment and always respect the environmental 
legislation in a timely and incisive way, in 2019 has also: 
• Participated in the Bando ISI Inail 2017  winning the grant for the contribution to the reclamation 
and subsequent covering of the roof of the Atella warehouse (CMD3), works are closed at the end of 
2019; 
• Replacement of the air heaters for heating the CMD1 plant; 
• Remodeling and replacement of LED lamps of the CMD2 plant. 
 
All this by communicating it not only to the external, highlighting the environmental operations 
carried out and the improvements obtained, but also within the company itself.  
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In fact, an applied policy is aimed at awaring personnel on environmental issues, so that they can 
become aware of the usefulness that many objects still have in a common perspective of eco-
sustainable shared choices. 
 
The Company undertakes to practice environmentally friendly activities all over the world. 
 

For this purpose, the Company: 
• defines plans and operational programs that respect the environment in all the activities carried 
out; 
• manages its plants through effective use of energy, materials and natural resources, pursuing the 
reduction of environmental impact, waste and waste and, where possible, the use of renewable 
sources; 
• is aware that the preservation of the quantity and quality of water is not only an environmental 
problem, but a challenge that embraces the entire economic and social system and, therefore, is 
committed to responsible management of water resources; 
• fixes environmental objectives and verifies the progress made; 
• is engaged in educational actions for its collaborators so that the above principles are pursued 
everywhere and from all levels of their structure.    

 
Finally, to ensure a structured structure of what has been described, an Environmental Management 
System has been implemented in compliance with the ISO 14001: 2004 standard. 
 
In fact, the verification of the integrated environmental and safety management system pursuant to the 
UNI EN ISO 14001 standards with the RINA authority is confirmed for 2019 as well.       

Information on staff management 

For a better understanding of the company's situation and management trend, some information 
concerning staff management is provided. 

Staff information 2018 2019 
staff median age  45  45 

numbers of graduated employees          106  113 

Level of education (numbers of graduated employees /tot. employees) 72,11        75,33 

turnover 2,04%       2,67% 

Illness rate 2,00%      3,40% 

Tot. staff  (*) 147 150 

men workers 94 94 

women workers 4 4 

men employees 28 30 

women employees           10 11 

Men trainees 0 0 

Women trainees 0 0 

Men coworkers 4 4 

Women coworkers 0 0 

Men Manager          10 10 

Women Manager 1 1 

Men directors 0 0 

Staff (*) 2018 2019 
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Managers 0 0

Employees          49           52 

Workers          98          98 

Tot 147        150 
(*) without coworkers 

 
Health and safety in the workplace 
 
Company's target is to guarantee the protection of workers' health and safety through surveillance and 
control activities, as well as the promotion of health and safety in the workplace, with the aim of 
preventing pathologies and related injuries. 
Since there have been no changes and updates in the structure, the D.V.R of the year 2016 remains in 
force. 
During 2014, the World Class Manufacturing system was launched in cooperation with Fiat, i.e. a 
structured and integrated production system that embraces all the processes of the plant, from safety, to 
the environment, from maintenance to logistics and quality, through the elimination of accidents by 
improving and implementing safety standards, which qualifies many of the world's leading 
manufacturers of goods and services. 
On 26/11/2019, we passed the WCM audit, improving the level achieved in the previous year. 
 
Medical visits were made to all employees as per the medical protocol of the Company Doctor. 
 
During the year, there were 3 accidents at work caused by occasional events. 
 
Staff Training 
 
 

The Company ensures that each employee receives an adequate training in the field of health and 
safety, with particular reference to the general safety aspects and risks related to the duties belonging 
to the company. 
 
The Company devotes a systematic effort to training its staff, using all the opportunities to support the 
daily work and professional growth of each employee. 
 
Training is conceived as an opportunity to enhance skills and support the development of new 
knowledge. 
 
This process involves the whole of society, providing the acquisition of knowledge that guarantees a 
varied and at the same time finalized formation, able to measure itself with the transformations of 
work and of current society. 
 
During the year, the staff participates in the following courses required by law: 
- Refresher course for Fire Prevention, Fire Fighting and High Risk Emergency Management 
according to art. 37 of Legislative Decree 81/08 (8 hours); 
- Training course for Security Supervisors in the workplace pursuant to art. 37 paragraph 7, of 
Legislative Decree 81/08 corrective Legislative Decree 106/2009 and State-Regions Agreement of 
21/12/2011 (8 hours); 
- Update Course for RLS Safety Workers Representative (4-hour annual update); 
- Information and training course for workers pursuant to art. 37 of Legislative Decree 81/08 
corrective Legislative Decree 106/2009 and State-Regions Agreement of 21/12/2011 (16 hours); 
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- Specific training course for workers pursuant to art. 37 of Legislative Decree 81/08 (4 hours); 
 Chemical Risk Training Course Legislative Decree 81/08 (8 hours). 
 Manual Load Handling Training Course Legislative Decree 81/08 (8 hours) 
 Training Course 4.0 c / o Atella  
The Company has planned the staff participation on a rotating basis, so as to guarantee the training of 
workers in each time slot. 

R&D activities 

In compliance with the provision included in article 2448, paragraph 1, no. 1), of the Italian Civil 
Code, below we introduce the main R & D activities carried out by our Company during the closing 
financial year, which were recorded in the financial statements with the consent of the Board of 
Statutory Auditors. 
 
Introduction 
Below is a description of the main progress made in the context of the projects underway during the 
year 2019 in relation to each individual Realization Objective (OR), with an indication of any 
deviations from the initial forecasts and the reasons for these deviations . The activities developed in 
2019 took into account the conclusions and critical issues found in the previous year. 
 
SIMPA project  
 

 
 
For OR 1, the activities carried out, consistently with what is stated in the specifications, concern the 
definition of the enabling technologies, the airworthiness constraints and a first performance analysis 
with reference to the current engine architecture and in particular a thermo-fluid dynamics analysis by 
numerical / engineering tools. 
For OR 2, the activity carried out concerned the definition of user requirements taking into account 
any airworthiness constraints. A survey was then carried out on the state of the art and the coupling 
schemes between the heat engine and the electric machine were defined.  
The integration activity has seen a system whose main elements are: 
- the baseline engine CMD22; 
- an electric machine mounted on the motor shaft, which can function as a motor and generator and 
relative controller; 
- an energy storage system; 
- a control system.  
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For OR 3, a reduced amount of activities were carried out compared to the others, mainly related to 
the setting of high level requirements and a first level analysis on predictive maintenance which then 
represents the ultimate goal of the predictive diagnosis. 

For OR 4, the architectures of different microcontrollers were studied and the possibility of their use 
by the manufacturing companies was verified. At the end of this process CMD obtained from Infineon 
the possibility of using Infineon microcontrollers belonging to the Aurix family. Through the study of 
the EASA CS-E regulation, a preliminary safety assessment of the entire engine system was 
conducted, establishing the safety objectives applicable to the engine system development process. In 
the end, security level DAL C was assigned. 

For OR 5, the activities carried out were to frame the requirements and constraints trying to define an 
engineering approach to get to the helicopter engine product. A first high-level design was carried out 
at the same time as a reverse engineering activity made by acquiring the aircraft ch7 kompressor 
model which was assumed as the reference aircraft for the present. 

IMARE project 

The iMARE project activities carried out during the 2019 financial year saw the definition of the most 
appropriate configurations and the performance of the main components of the boat being developed, 
with particular reference to operating cycles deemed capable of taking full advantage of the hybrid 
propulsion, typical of some specific applications. The initial phase of the project was characterized by 
multiple meetings between the partners, organized in order to better plan the work and to achieve 
optimal coordination for the best sharing of information. Each partner has deepened its own area of 
development and has gradually informed the Lead Company about the progress achieved. 
The iMARE project was conceived with a view to reducing the environmental impact of the yachting 
sector by hybridizing the propulsion and therefore thinking of a progressive and widespread 
replacement or retrofitting of existing engines, mostly diesel, for the integration of the endothermic 
module with an electrical one that can be used mostly in port maneuvers or near inhabited coastal 
areas or protected marine areas. The aspect around which the design idea was developed is the 
consideration that each type of boat for real use has its own cycle of use and the same can perform 
different cycles as the user needs vary. Having to carry out an evaluation of the variation of traditional 
behaviors with other innovative ones, capable of ensuring greater environmental sustainability, it was 
considered useful to reason according to the mission of the boat to arrive at configurations and settings 
of the optimal steering parameters for the reduction of consumption and the least possible release of 
pollutants into the atmosphere. In other words, the proposing Consortium immediately fully shared the 
idea that an adequate and direct assessment of the project requirements can only take place after 
defining the "benchmark" of operation on standard reference cycles.  

The definition of the operating cycles has become necessary precisely to allow simulating and 
evaluating the behavior of the individual components of the system, first in a virtual way and then to 
proceed with experimentation on the test bench and in real use. 
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Once the system architecture and the type of hull of the boat being developed were established, the 
benchmarking operating cycles for the iMARE project were chosen jointly by CMD and the partner 
SALPA, dividing them into two types. On the basis of these cycles, it was possible to define the 
absorption values of the electric power, by estimating the absorption values of the propeller, the hull 
and the entire powertrain, so as to allow the VGA partner to set up a mathematical model capable of 
simulate the release of energy, then the discharge of the electrical storage systems and the relative 
phase necessary for recharging. From the definition of the minimum electrical power requirements 
with which to equip the system, the UMBRA and VGA partners have respectively established the type 
of electric motor and the relative type of battery necessary to guarantee the minimum autonomy 
established. 
 
It is clear that the autonomy established is to be considered of pure reference in order to allow all 
partners to optimize their respective components but it will not be limiting, since, once all the 
specifications of the individual components have been established, a variation in autonomy will entail 
only a greater capacity of the batteries and no changes to the parameters or characteristics of the other 
components. Each Partner therefore worked on the basis of the project requirements established in the 
initial phase, so as to develop the components of their interest and proceed with dedicated tests 
preliminary to the subsequent integration. 

 
 
 
The following table lists the project's Goals. 

OR 

Objective Type 
(SS / RI)  

OR Title 

1 RI 
Analysis of hybrid propulsion architecture solutions: definition of 
performance and cost-benefit  

2 RI 
comparisonsOptimization of the thermal propulsion system 

6 SS 
Integration, experimental characterization of the components and 
performance analysis on the hybrid engine test bench  

8 SS 
hybrid propulsion system installed on a demonstrator of a boat type up to 10 
m 

10 SS 
Project management and activity progress monitoring 

 
PROMETEO project 
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The activities carried out so far within the project concern the following realization objectives: 
 
- OR.2 - RI  - Definition of the chemical-physical characteristics of synthetic biofuels to be used in the 
new concept gasifier; 
- OR.4  - RI -  Development of an intelligent control system for the performance optimization (energy 
and environmental) of the microcogeneration system being developed 
- OR.10 – SS - Risk analysis and project activity monitoring 
 
OR.2 concerned the definition of the chemical-physical properties of bio-fuels to be subjected to 
gasification. Following the drafting of the consultancy contracts signed with the company INGELIA 
SPA and the CNR Motors Institute of Naples, it was possible to carry out, at the IM-CNR accredited 
laboratories, further and complementary analyzes on biomass / residual materials made available, with 
respect to than already done in 2018. Thanks to the use of the new laboratory results, in terms of 
proximate and ultimate analysis, and together with the mathematical model already developed in 
2018, it was possible to estimate the lower calorific value for the new biomass / residual materials and 
higher, the atomic ratios C / N, H / C and O / C, the stoichiometric air / fuel ratio and the mixing ratio. 
The framework, investigated as a whole, made it possible to univocally determine the sequence of pre-
treatments necessary to make the biomass / residual materials compatible for subsequent use in the 
CMD ECO20 system. Instead, as regards the 1D mathematical model, of a phenomenological type, 
carried out in joint activity with the IM-CNR during 2019, its validation has been foreseen on the 
basis of the experimental campaigns conducted. In addition, a parametric analysis was carried out with 
the variation of the most important state variables conditioning the gasification process. Among the 
results achieved in OR.3 we highlight the redesign of the gasifier of the CMD ECO20 system starting 
from the conventional architecture (Imbert downdraft), in an "omnivorous" reactor, capable of 
converting unconventional matrices. Internal mechanical systems have been provided, capable of 
mitigating the problems connected with the poor permeability produced by bio-fuels characterized by 
low thermostructural resistance, low density and tendency to flaking. The re-design activity was 
consequent to an intense study of the reference literature concerning the gasifiers, in order to establish 
the extent of the advantages deriving from the structural changes made to the reactor. 

 
 
 
The OR.4 carried out in joint activity with the CNR Motors Institute of Naples allowed the definition: 

 of the chemical-physical characteristics of the tar and of the performance parameters concerning the 
calculation of the abatement efficiency of the syngas cleaning line (OR.4.1); 
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 a global balance in which the energy distribution of primary energy, introduced in the various 
subsections of the plant, was represented through the Sankey diagram (OR.4.2); 

 of a 0D numerical model, in which the use of exhaust gases as a heat transfer fluid was assessed, 
both for the direct drying of the bio-fuels used in the system, and for drying by tapping upstream the 
bundle exchanger tube (OR.4.2); 

 of the heat recovery system in optimized configuration (OR.4.2); 
 exhaust emissions from the syngas-powered engine also using a suitable oxidizing catalyst 

(OR.4.3); 
 a three-dimensional (3D) computational numerical model (Computational Fluid Dynamics, CFD), 

capable of reproducing the operating cycle of the GM Vortec 3.0L engine (OR.4.3); 
 an intelligent electronic control system capable of monitoring, implementing and possibly operating 

each component of the machine (OR.4.4). 
 
The OR10 activity concerned the continuous updating of the Project Management Plan, already 
implemented in 2018 and necessary to univocally define the strategies to be undertaken for the correct 
execution of the project, in relation to the difficulties encountered during its implementation. The 
measures taken to correct the activities susceptible to delays are also shown. More specifically, the 
Project Management Plan contains within it all the objectives currently achieved in relation to the 
targets set by the Development Plan. The methods, contents and results with which the Partners and 
Consultants have interacted during the scheduled meetings have been included. 
 
An appropriate Risk Register has been prepared within the Project Management Plan, which has been 
updated continuously in relation to the monitoring and management of the Realization Goals. The 
Risk Register contains all the risks that occurred during the course of the project and the actions that 
were taken in order to reduce their effects. 
 
BioPlus project 
 
Introduction to the project: aims and objectives 
CMD SpA, as part of the BIOPLUS project, articulated in the three-year period 2018 - 2019 - 2020, 
thanks to the advice of the two Research Centers identified, in possession of technical skills, 
laboratories and instruments, carried out numerical / experimental activities concerning the 
development of a product powered only by wood chips. The realization of the aims and objectives of 
the project will allow to ensure the industrialization and market penetration of an innovative system, 
with high energy efficiency and including advanced micro-electronic technologies for increasing 
operating flexibility and reliability on the long term. The main innovation element of the project 
concerned both the optimization of the micro-cogenerator from the point of view of both energy and 
environmental performance, as well as the ability to use bio-fuels deriving from suitably pre-treated 
residual materials. Micro-cogeneration, taken from BIOPLUS, will be the subject of immediate future 
industrialization and diffusion on the market as an integrated service technology for the enhancement 
of organic residues as a renewable energy source, and will be able to contribute concretely to the 
realization of a reliable, sustainable and sustainable future energy system. competitive, less and less 
based on the use of fossil fuels. The results deriving from this project will be able to provide a 
substantial contribution in this regard, by increasing the level of technological maturity of the systems 
for micro-cogeneration from biomass based on the gasification process and on the use of the syngas 
produced in alternative heat engines. The BIOPLUS project, through industrial research and 
experimental development, carried out on various levels, will make it possible to take a decisive step 
forward towards industrial production and the large-scale diffusion of micro-scale power systems, 
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based on the coupling between downdraft gasifiers and internal combustion engines. The 
interdisciplinarity of CMD's and consultants' skills, consolidated in the field of gasification, engines, 
energy systems, environmental aspects, has allowed us to overcome some intrinsic limits of the 
current products available.  
In particular, at the end of the project, a system characterized by: 

 possibility of processing biomasses different in composition, size, degree of humidity; 
 obtaining a syngas with suitable characteristics (high calorific value and sufficient purity) for use in 

an internal combustion engine in a cogeneration system; 
 obtaining a system characterized by acoustic and atmospheric emissions compatible with the limits 

set by the reference standards.  
In more detail, the joint actions implemented during the course of the project concerned: 

 the identification of biomass available on the territory for the production of bio-fuels suitable for 
energy conversion, 

 the definition of the most appropriate pre-treatment processes to make residual materials potentially 
usable within the micro-cogenerator. The characteristics of the residual biomass, in terms of moisture 
content, size of the size and thermo-structural compactness, strongly influence the gasification 
process. This made it appropriate to conduct specific studies on the pre-treatment processes in order to 
standardize the same characteristics of the residual biomass of different origins to obtain a syngas 
always suitable for direct use and conversion to electricity and heat; 

 the design and construction of innovative plant configurations, for the adaptation, in terms of 
energy efficiency, acoustic and atmospheric emissions of the plant in its normal operation. In fact, the 
possibility of being able to install the system at different end users, such as small-medium enterprises, 
municipalities, schools, etc., required the creation of solutions to be implemented, in the micro-
cogeneration system, functional to minimizing the noise produced from the internal combustion 
reciprocating engine, as well as related air pollutant.  
The sustainability of use, of the solutions derived from BIOPLUS, was verified by demonstration in 
the field and through experimental analyzes carried out "ad hoc". 
 
Realization of industrial research and experimental development.  
In collaboration with the two Research Centers, CMD S.p.A. has already partially completed (two-
year period 2018 - 2019) and partly still presents industrial research and experimental development 
under construction (2020).  
As part of the 1st part of the BIOPLUS project (year 2018), CMD S.p.A has dealt with: 

 identify residual biomass on the market, potentially usable by the micro-cogeneration system; 
 characterize the selected residual biomasses from a chemical-physical point of view, generating an 

identification card coded by material; 
 perform functional tests on the micro-cogeneration system, downstream of the pre-treatment 

processes carried out on the residual biomass; 
 identify and implement functional elements for optimizing plant performance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 Terzista per 

lavorazione  
Biomassa conferita  

Risultati analisi di laboratorio (proximate ed 
ultimate analysis MV, CF, ASH, C,H,N,O, S, Cl, 
potere calorifico inferiore, etc.) 

I° parte progetto “BIOPLUS” 
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Specifically, within the II ° part of the BIOPLUS project (year 2019), CMD S.p.A. has dealt with: 

 prepare experimental setups to perform measurements concerning acoustic and atmospheric 
emissions; 

 perform numerical models simulating acoustic and atmospheric emissions; 
 create design solutions aimed at minimizing the noise produced by the internal combustion 

reciprocating engine, as well as the related atmospheric pollutants. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The last segment of the BIOPLUS project (expected conclusion 06/2020) will concern the further 
execution of experimental tests necessary to qualify and certify the performance of the entire 
optimized system, before the subsequent phase of placing the product on the reference market, the 
result of industrial research and experimental development. 
 
Automation Division 
 
The Automation Division of CMD, born within the Mechanical Processing BU, was created to 
develop solutions for process optimization through applied research and provide operational support 
to CMD production units, thanks to the relevant know-how of nature technology in the motor sector, 
in the specific field of innovation of production processes, which over time it has in fact acquired. 
In terms of human resources, CMD therefore has a full-time team dedicated to research and 
development activities in the Machining BU (in which it is also included), made up of five resources 
and coordinated, in the areas of respective competence by the Plant manager, Giseppe Catena, and by 

CMD s.p.a.  
pre-trattamenti (vagliatura, essiccazione, bricchettazione, 

cippatura, etc.) e sperimentazione 

Prodotto ottenuto dalla I° parte del progetto 

ECO20x ottenuto 
dalla I° parte del 

progetto 
“BIOPLUS” 

Minimizzazione emissione 
acustiche ed atmosferiche

II° parte progetto “BIOPLUS”

Modellazione e 
sperimentazione 

congiunta tra  
CMD S.p.A.  

e  
Terzista per la 

Prodotto ottimizzato per minimizzazione impatto
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the CEO. The Division works according to a sustainable 4.0 model, focusing on the themes and KET's 
(Key Enabling Technologies) which present the most concrete and useful application effects for our 
production processes. Modularity, reconfigurability, interoperability, high availability of information: 
these fields have already been probed several years ago; the result is the development of various 
internal projects: 
 
PROJECT CODE DESCRIPTION 
16001 Collaborative robotic station with cylider heads line 
16004 Voith piece traceability marker 
16007 Voith machined parts measuring station 
17008 Cylinder block hat assembly station 
17030 test machine Cylinder block 
17037 Cilinder block screwing station 
19075 Cilinder block laser marking machine 
19077 Management of I-IoT sensors – XDK 
19081 Augmented reality (software) 
 
Plants and systems are prepared so that they can process not a single product, but entire families 
through a simple reconfiguration. The developed systems can be adapted, even automatically, to 
different production regimes. The team of this Division is perfectly at ease in the fourth industrial 
revolution, equipped with a mix of skills that allow us to drive change. The systems created are 
already fully part of the functional assets for the transformation of our company into an Industry 4.0 
key. Development projects are underway for new features, guided by the idea that technologies must 
be at the service of man for the continuous improvement of processes and productivity. 
 
This know-how, recognized by its multinational clients and by the reference market, certainly 
complex but homogeneous, can qualify as the tested and recognized technological capacity, held by 
the company, to internally develop all the design phases that, starting from the drawings of the "Raw 
product" supplied by the client, can go as far as the actual production, also through the design of ad 
hoc production lines and islands (also robotized) as well as for the testing and prototyping phases of 
the commissioned products (or further products): starting from the innovations of the production 
processes and their design, we arrive at the "mature" but renewed product (ie: the latest generation 
engines). It therefore consists of engineering and designing the production process and suitable 
production lines. 
 
Mastering this know-how, among other things, has allowed CMD to adopt the organizational and 
production method called WCM (World Class Manufacturing), born years ago in the Toyota sector 
(hence the so-called Toyota system) and adopted by all the main companies automotive in the world 
and also many manufacturers. This procedure - moreover also applied first and foremost by the FCA 
group's plants - achieves a score, released following periodic audits of FCA, as previously described. 
Still recently, the Company has further improved its performance in this regard. Being part of the 
"WCM Association" highlights the reputation of CMD and its motorsport know-how, but also the 
direct link existing between the know-how itself and the turnover produced. 
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Relations with subsidiaries, associates, parent companies and companies subject to 
control by the parent companies 

It should be noted that relations have been maintained with the companies referred to in paragraph 2, 
third paragraph of art. 2428 of the civil code. Specifically, these refer exclusively to the reversal of 
costs incurred during the 2019 financial year by the Company on behalf of the parent company and the 
cost of the personnel seconded by the parent company to the Company. 

Receivables from the parent company recorded in the current assets 

Detail 2019 year  2018 year 
Absolute 
variation 

To parent company 323.744 312.546 11.198 

Tot 323.744 312.546 11.198 

 

Payables from the parent company recorded in the current assets 

Detail Year 2019 Year 2018 
Absolute 
variation 

To parent company 390.000 260.000 130.000 

Tot 390.000 260.000 130.000 

 

Treasury shares 

Pursuant to articles 2435-bis and 2428 of the Italian Civil Code, it should be noted that, at the end of 
the year, the company did not hold any treasury shares. 

Shares / allotment of shares of parent company 

Pursuant to art. 2435-bis and art. 2428, paragraph 3 nos. 3 and 4 of the Italian Civil Code, it should be 
noted that during the year the company did not hold shares or allotment of shares of the parent 
company. 

Significant events after the end of the year 

Following the signing of the last loan agreements, the Company has extinguished the previous Interest 
Rate Swap contract, re-modulated on 04/08/2016 with Banca Popolare di Ancona to hedge the interest 
risk associated with its debt, in order to stipulate two more, again to cover the interest risk connected, 
however, to the new 50% pool debt with Intesa Sam Paolo and Banco BPM above. The signing of 
these new derivative contracts was made on 10/02/2020 with both institutions, with a notional value of 
1,200 thousand euros each, in line with the underlying pooled transaction with a total value of 2,400 
thousand euros maturing in 04. / 12/2029. The bank parameter is the 3-month Euribor, the customer 
parameter is 0.0390%. This instrument has been designated as a hedging financial instrument 
(pursuant to the indications provided by OIC 32 - Derivative financial instruments. Since the 
stipulation was concluded on 10/02/2020, any fair value of the derivative instrument will be 
recognized, as per the accounting standards indicated above, in a specific equity reserve (under item 
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AVII "Reserve for hedging operations of expected cash flows") whose balance sheet entry will be a 
provision for risks in B 3 "derivative financial instruments" of the same amount, if the mark to market 
at the end of the 2020 financial year has a negative value; the balance sheet of the aforementioned 
reserve will be among the "Financial fixed assets" in item B) III 4) derivative financial instruments 
active, if the mark to market at the end 2020 will have a positive value. 
 
On 5 December 2019, the Company received 1,881 thousand euros from shareholders in the loan 
account. This amount is equal to the share paid, in proportion to the percentages of participation in the 
share capital, by the shareholders Mariano and Giorgio Negri in response to the shareholder financing 
proposal put forward by the CEO during the shareholders' meeting of 4/11/2019 for better to address 
the needs and the present financial needs of the Company, pending the finding of subsidized and non-
refundable financial resources under the Development Contract. It should also be noted that all 
members are entitled to reimbursement, which will take place once for each member no later than 
three years from the date of disbursement, unless further extension of the lender. 
 
In this regard, it should also be noted that on 11 February 2020, the Company also collected 3,750 
thousand euros in the loan account from the majority shareholder Loncin Motor Co. Ltd. This amount 
was loaned to the Company under the same conditions recognized to the other two partners and 
always in proportion to the percentage of participation in the share capital of Loncin Motor Co. Ltd. 
 

Expected evolution of management 

Pursuant to and for the purposes of what is indicated in point 6) of the third paragraph of art. 2428 of 
the Civil Code, this section aims to represent the foreseeable evolution of economic and financial 
management for the next few years. 
 
The market prospects, albeit in an uncertain macroeconomic context, also in light of the facts relating 
to the global health emergency of the beginning of 2020, are to be considered positive for the 
Company's main outlet segments. Globally, the agricultural machinery market is expected to grow at a 
CAGR of 8.7% until 2022. 
 
The development for the passenger vehicle market will be more limited, particularly cyclical and 
influenced by the advent of the electric motor. While diesel engines will remain the reference point for 
agricultural machinery and industrial vehicles, in the passenger vehicle segment, the most significant 
growth prospects concern the segments of hybrid and electric cars, also in light of the increasingly 
stringent environmental regulations. 
 
Finally, the growing attention of the market towards the green economy, in addition to the current 
political context characterized by the presence of incentives, favor the Company's growth strategy. 
 
As regards biomass recovery, the prospects are positive only for small-sized plants, the target segment 
for CMD, for which important forms of incentives are confirmed. 
 
Wide margins of growth are also recorded on the aeronautical market, with particular reference to 
applications on light aircraft with power below 500 HP in both military and civilian settings. This 
segment, with an estimated value of EUR 300m per year and expected to grow to a 5% CAGR, 
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appears to be of little interest to large international players, thus offering favorable prospects for 
small-scale specialized producers such as CMD. 

In this context, the CMD therefore has all the numbers to consolidate the existing turnover, always 
with a view to reducing the specific weight of the automotive mechanical processing to the benefit of 
the turnover linked to other business lines related to renewable energy and the aeronautics sector. 

In this sense, the Company will continue with the execution of the investment plan relating to the 
Development Contract which will see the construction of an aeronautical motor hub in the common 
production site of Atella (PZ) through investments in machinery, plants, equipment, intangible assets 
and assets. furniture and related to the shed purchased in the previous year. 

As regards renewable energy, an additional warehouse is under construction at the San Nicola La 
Strada (CE) production site which will see the birth of a research laboratory and a production site for 
the ECO20 biomass cogenerator, which will allow a strong technological and market boost also in 
light of the expansion of the areas of intervention of the machine in previously unattended sectors. 

In the marine engine sector, the company will continue to focus on international markets through 
consolidated relationships with the main European distributors, but it is also in the process of 
implementing a commercial plan at national level through a new Italian distributor which should 
guarantee at least half of the foreign turnover.  

The production and marketing of hybrid marine engines which are the completion of CMD's green 
strategy are also being launched. 

Use of financial instruments relevant to the assessment of assets, liabilities, the financial 
situation and the economic results 

Goals and policies of the company on financial risk management, including the hedging policy for 
each major category of planned operations, can be summarized as follows. 

As indicated above, following the stipulation of the aforementioned new loan agreements, the 
Company has extinguished the previous Interest Rate Swap contract re-modulated on 04/08/2016 with 
Banca Popolare di Ancona to cover the interest risk associated with its debt. , in order to stipulate two 
more, always to cover the interest risk connected, however, to the new 50% pool debt with Intesa Sam 
Paolo and Banco BPM mentioned above. The signing of these new derivative contracts was made on 
10/02/2020 with both institutions, with a notional value of 1,200 thousand euros each in line with the 
underlying pooled transaction with a total value of 2,400 thousand euros expiring 04. / 12/2029. The 
bank parameter is the 3-month Euribor, the customer parameter is 0.0390%. This instrument has been 
designated as a hedging financial instrument (pursuant to the indications provided by OIC 32 - 
Derivative financial instruments. Since the stipulation was concluded on 10/02/2020, any fair value of 
the derivative instrument will be recognized, as per the accounting standards indicated above, in a 
specific equity reserve (under item AVII "Reserve for hedging operations of expected cash flows") 
whose balance sheet entry will be a provision for risks in B 3 "derivative financial instruments" of the 
same amount, if the mark to market at the end of the year 2020 will have a negative value; the balance 
sheet of the aforementioned reserve will be among the "Financial fixed assets" in item B) III 4) 
derivative financial instruments active, if the mark to market at the end 2020 will have a positive 
value. 
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS 

ON THE RESULTS OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED AT THE 31 DECEMBER 2019 

(pursuant to the article 2429, paragraph II, c.c.) 

Dear Shareholders, 

the draft of financial statements for the year ended at 31 December 2019, which 

the Board of Directors submits for your approval, has been prepared in accordance 

with the provisions of arts. 2423 and succ. of the c.c .. 

We remind you that the legality check is entrusted to the Board of Statutory 

Auditors, while the auditing is carried out by the Audit Firm Deloitte & Touche 

S.p.A, registered at the Ministry of Justice, to which your company has conferred 

the statutory audit of the accounts for the three-year period 2018-2020. 

Consequently, the report pursuant the Legislative Decree n. 39, of 27 January 

2010, on the Balance Sheet of the company at the 31 December 2019, is issued by 

the designated Audit Firm.  

With this report we take into account our work. 

Report pursuant to the article. 2429 of the Italian Civil Code 

The Board of Directors approved the draft financial statements at 6 march 2020 at 

9:30 o’clock, convening the totalitarian shareholders' meeting at 6 march 2020 as 

by  the bylaws at 11:00 o’clock. The Board of Statutory Auditors as well as the 

Audit Firm in charge of the legal control have received formal waiver of the terms 

set forth in art. 2429 C.C. by all members. Consequently, the Board of Statutory 

Auditors also releases this report, waiving the terms established by the law. 

This report was approved jointly and immediately deposited at the Company's 

registered office at 6 March 2020. 



The Board of Directors has made available the following documents approved at 6 

March 2020 for the year ended at 31 December 2019 

- The draft of the financial statements consisting of the balance sheet, the 

income statement, the cash flow statement and the notes to the financial 

statements; 

- Management report. 

The setting of this report refers to the same structure as that used for the 

previous year and it is inspired by the provisions of law and norm n. 7.1 of 

“Norme di comportamento del collegio sindacale - Principi di comportamento del 

collegio sindacale di società non quotate”, issued by the CNDCEC and in force 

since 30 September 2015. 

 

General Introduction 

 

Company knowledge, risks assessment and report on assigned tasks 

 

The Board of Statutory Auditors states to have a well-established knowledge on 

the company and as regards 

i) the type of activity carried out; 

ii) its management and accounting structure; 

and also, taking into account the size and the problems of the company, it is 

reiterated that the "planning" phase of the supervisory activity - in which the 

intrinsic risks and the criticalities of the two parameters above have to be 

assessed - has been implemented through the positive feedback with regard to what 

has already been known, on the basis of information gained over time. 

 

It was then possible to confirm that: 

- the typical activity carried out by the company has not changed during the 

year under review and it is consistent with the company objects; 

- the management set-up and the informatics equipment have remained basically 

unchanged. 

What above is indirectly confirmed by comparing the results of the values expressed 

in the income statement for the last two financial years, that is for the year 

under review (2019) and the previous one (2018). It is also possible to find out 

how the Company operated in 2019 in a comparable manner with the previous financial 

year and, consequently, our controls took place on these assumptions by verifying 

the substantial comparability of values and results with those of the previous 

year. 

This report therefore summarizes the activity concerning the information provided 

by the art. 2429, paragraph 2, c.c. and more precisely: 

- on the results of the financial year; 



- on the activity carried out in the performance of the duties provided by 

the law; 

- on the observations and proposals concerning the balance sheet, with 

particular reference to the possible use by the administrative body of the 

derogation provided by the article 2423, paragraph 5,  c.c.; 

- on the any complaints received by the shareholders pursuant the art. 2408 

c.c.. 

In any case, we remain at your disposal to deepen any further aspects during the  

assembly debate. 

The activities of the Board of Directors relate, over time, to the entire financial 

year. During the year itself meetings have regularly taken place in compliance to 

the art. 2404 c.c. and minutes of each meeting have been drawn up. 

 

Activities carried out 

 

During the periodic audits, the Board of Statutory Auditors has taken note of the 

evolution of the Company's activities, paying particular attention to contingent 

and / or extraordinary issues in order to identify its economic and financial 

impact on the operating result and on the balance sheet structure, as well as any 

eventual risk like those arising from loan losses, that are monitored on a regular 

basis. 

The Board has therefore periodically evaluated the adequacy of the organizational 

and functional structure of the company and its possible mutations with respect 

to the minimum needs required by the management's performance. 

Relationships with people working in the said structure have been inspired by the 

mutual collaboration in the respect of the roles assigned to each one, having 

clarified those of the Board of Statutory Auditors. 

Throughout the year, it was found that: 

- the administrative staff responsible for the recording of company facts has 

not materially changed compared to the previous year;  

- the level of its technical skills is adequate to the respect of the ordinary 

business facts and has a sufficient knowledge of the company problems; 

- external consultants and accountants in charge for accounting, taxation,  

corporate and employment assistance have not changed and thus have a 

historical knowledge of the business activity and of the management issues, 

even extraordinary, that have affected the results of the financial 

statements. 

On the basis of the management chart, the information required by the art. 2381, 

paragraph 5, c.c., was provided by the Head of Administration at the scheduled 

meetings, as well as through telephone and information contacts with the members 

of the Board of Directors: from what stated above it follows that the executive 

directors have, in substance and form, complied with the requirements of the 

aforementioned law. 

 



In conclusion, as far as it has been found during the course of the financial 

year, the Board of Statutory Auditors can state that: 

- decisions made by the shareholders and the members of the Board of Directors 

have been in accordance with the law and the company objects and that they 

have not been clearly imprudent or endangering the integrity of the 

company's assets; 

- sufficient information has been obtained on the overall performance of the 

management and on its foreseeable evolution, as well as on the most 

significant operations, by size or characteristics, carried out by the 

company; 

- Operations carried out have also been in accordance with the law and the 

articles of association and not in potential conflict with the resolutions 

adopted by the shareholders' meetings or such as to compromise the integrity 

of the company's assets; 

- No specific observations are made on the appropriateness of the 

organizational structure of the company, nor on the adequacy of the 

administrative and accounting systems, nor on the reliability of the latter 

in properly representing the facts of management; 

- During the supervisory activity, as outlined above, no further significant 

facts have emerged to be reported in this report; 

- There was no need to intervene on any omissions by the administrative body 

pursuant to the art. 2406 c.c.; 

- There were no complaints pursuant to the art. 2408 c.c.; 

- No complaints were made pursuant to the art. 2409, paragraph 7, c.c.. 

 

Observations and proposals on the Balance sheet and its approval  

 

The draft of the financial statements for the year ended at 31 December 2019 has 

been approved by the Board of Directors and consists of the balance sheet, the 

income statement, the cash flow statement and the notes to the financial 

statements. 

Furthermore: 

- The Board of Directors has also prepared the management report referred to 

the art. 2428 c.c.; 



- These documents have been submitted to the Board of Statutory Auditors in 

time to be deposited at the registered office of the company, together with 

this report; 

- The statutory audit is entrusted to the Audit Firm Deloitte & Touche S.p.A. 

that has prepared its own report pursuant to the art. 14, Legislative Decree 

n. 39 at 27 January 2010. This report does not highlight any significant 

deviations, that is, any negative judgments or impossibility of expressing 

a judgment or disclosure, and therefore the judgment issued is positive. 

The draft of the financial statements was then examined, with the following 

additional information being provided: 

- The criteria used in the formation and valuation of assets and liabilities 

are pursuant to the art. 2426 c.c. and take into account the novelties 

introduced in the national law from the 1st January 2016, by the Legislative 

Decree 139/2015, through which the European Directive 2013/34/EU has been 

implemented;  

- It has been paid attention to the approach given to the draft of the balance 

sheet, its general compliance with the law on its training and structure 

and, in this regard, there are no observations to be highlighted in this 

report; 

- It has been verified the compliance with the law on the drafting of the 

management report and there are no observations to this effect in this 

report; 

- The Board of Directors, while drafting the balance sheet, did not derogate 

from the law in accordance with the art. 2423, paragraph 5, c.c.; 

- It has been verified the compliance of the financial statements with the 

facts and the known information after the performance of the typical duties 

of the Board of Statutory Auditors and no further observations have to be 

made;  

- Pursuant to the art. 2426, paragraph 1, n. 5, c.c. the significant values 

recorded in B-I-1) and B-I-2) of the Balance Sheet Assets were the subject 

of our specific control with the consequent consent to their inscription; 

it is stated that, by mere recall, it will not be possible to distribute 

dividends by affecting the reserves of profits beyond the net amount of 

those capitalized in the assets; 

- the correctness of the information contained in the explanatory notes was 

verified with regard to the absence of active and passive financial and 

monetary positions originally arisen in currencies other than the euro; 

- Pursuant to the art. 2426, paragraph 1, n. 6, c.c. the Board of Statutory 

Auditors has noted that there is no goodwill recognized on the item B-I-5) 

of the balance sheet assets; 

- It has been verified the accuracy of the information contained in the notes 

to the financial statements as regards the absence of active and passive 

financial and monetary positions, originated in currencies other than euro; 

- In the notes to the financial statements the information required by the 

art. 2427-bis c.c were given, relating to the derivative financial 

instruments and the financial fixed assets recorded at a greater value than 

their fair value; 



- Commitments, warranties and contingencies have been exhaustively 

illustrated. 

 

Results of the financial year 

 

The net result determined by the Board of Directors for the year ended at 31 

December 2019, as is also evident by reading the financial statements, is positive 

for 557.388 Euros. The Board of Statutory Auditors agrees with the proposal to 

put the results of the financial statements made by the administrative body into 

the notes to the financial statements. 

 

Conclusions 

 

On the basis of what stated above and as reported to the Board of Statutory 

Auditors and as verified by the periodic audits carried out, it is unanimous that 

there are no objections to Your approval of the draft of the financial statements 

for the year ended on 31st December 2019, as well as it was drawn up and proposed 

by the Board of Directors. 

 

San Nicola La Strada (CE), 6 marzo 2020 

 

Auditors 

 

Signed by Prof. Ettore Cinque 

 

Signed by Dott. Roberto Cerciello 

 

Signed by Dott. Ottavio Mannara 

 










